Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

January 2017

How Elementary School Principals Manage Accountability Éxpectations

Carolyn M. Ball The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Dr. Katina Pollock The University of Western Ontario

Graduate Program in Education

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Doctor of Education

© Carolyn M. Ball 2016

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd



Part of the Educational Leadership Commons

Recommended Citation

Ball, Carolyn M., "How Elementary School Principals Manage Accountability Expectations" (2016). Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository. 4328.

https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/4328

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact tadam@uwo.ca.

ABSTRACT

This thesis explores how elementary school principals in the Canadian province of Ontario manage multiple accountability expectations in their work. My conceptual framework is based on seven different accountability systems that can influence principals' work: bureaucratic, moral, political, professional, market, legal, and performance-based. This interpretive, qualitative study consisted of 12 semistructured interviews, approximately 60 minutes in length, with principals from two urban Ontario school boards.

The amount of demands placed on elementary principals by various forms of accountability—including mandated government policies, school board initiatives, and what principals believe to be important based on the needs of their respective schools—is intensifying and changing the expectations of principals' work. In schools today, the nonnegotiable forms of accountability being imposed by school boards and the Ministry of Education are increasing both in number and the amount of time that accompanies adhering to each mandate. This additional work influences how some elementary school principals function during the work day, and potentially lengthens their time at work. It also creates tensions for principals as they navigate between the nonnegotiable forms of mandated accountability and what they perceive to be important aspects of their work. Pollock and Winton (2015) describe the work of 21st century principals as a juggling act that requires finding a balance to manage the conflicting and competing accountability demands that often occur at the same time.

This study revealed that elementary principals use strategies and supports to fulfill increasing bureaucratic accountability expectations, while also honouring aspects of moral accountability that are specific to the needs of their respective school contexts.

Keywords: elementary principals; principals' work; work intensification; accountability; multiple accountability systems

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii-iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vii-viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF APPENDICES	
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Problem of Practice	
Research Question and Research Subquestions	
Significance of Study	
Accountability	
Accountability in SchoolsOntario Elementary Principals and Accountability	
Positionality	
Organization of Chapters	
<u>-</u>	
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW AND CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK	
Definitions of Terminology	
Accountability in Education	
Market Accountability	
Political Accountability	
Legal Accountability	
Professional Accountability	
Moral Accountability	
Administrative/Bureaucratic Accountability	
Performance-based Accountability	
Smaller Scale Examples of Performance-based Accountability	25
Origins of Performance-based Accountability	
Consequences of Performance-based Accountability	
Performance-based Accountability for Teachers	
Public Funding as Accountability	
Systems of Accountability within Schools	
Policy and Accountability Change Resulting from Provincial Politics	
Work Intensification as a Result of Accountability Expectations	
Stress as a Result of Accountability Expectations	
Strategies for Managing Accountability Expectations	
Negotiate Expectations	
Prioritize Expectations	
Networking and Brokering with Outside Agencies	
Connecting Expectations	
Concept of Work	
Conceptual Framework	
Chapter Summary	
CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY	
Interpretative Approach	
Qualitative Research	
Semistructured Interviews	
Participants	
Sample Size	

Recruitment	50
Data Analysis	52
Thematic Analysis	54
Trustworthiness of Study	55
Credibility	56
Transferability	56
Dependability	56
Confirmability	
Ethical Considerations	57
Chapter Summary	57
CHAPTER 4: FINDINGS—MULTIPLE ACCOUNTABILITY EXPECTATION	NS AND
THE INFLUENCE ON PRINCIPALS' WORK	
Elementary Principals' Understandings of Accountability	
Bureaucratic Accountability	
Compliance Training	
Occupational Health and Safety	
Paperwork	
Performance-based Accountability	
Teacher Performance Appraisal	
Experienced Teachers	
New Teachers	
Accountability for Students Through EQAO	
How Principals' Experience EQAO	
Professional Accountability	
Classroom Walk-Throughs	
Legal Accountability	
Class Distribution	
Moral Accountability	
Intrinsic Motivation	
Market Accountability	79
Strategies Principals Use to Meet Accountability Expectations	80
Teacher Leaders	
Prioritizing and Delegating	82
Challenges Principals Face to Meet Accountability Expectations	83
Time Limitations	83
Technology Increasing Principals' Work Hours	84
Work Downloaded to Principals	85
Principals' Work is Unpredictable	86
Supports Principals Use for Managing Accountability Expectations	87
Relationships with Colleagues	87
Experience and Reputation	
Accessing Support from Outside Agencies	
Chapter Summary	92
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSIONS AND INTERPRETATION OF FINDINGS	93
Changes to Principals' Work Resulting from Increased Accountability	
Ontario Principals' and Work Intensification	
Tension One: Bureaucratic Accountability Dominating Principals' Time	
Limited Opportunities for Instructional Leadership	
Tension Two: The Impact of Technology	
Tension Three: The Interconnectedness of Accountability Systems	

Tension Four: Accountability and Intrinsic Motivation	101
Chapter Summary	
CHAPTER 6: SUMMARY, IMPLICATIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS FO	
FUTURE RESEARCH	
Summary of the Study	
Summary of the Study	
Research Subquestion One: How do elementary school principals understand accountabil	
work?	
Research Subquestion Two: What strategies do elementary principals use to meet account	
expectations?	104
Research Subquestion Three: What challenges do elementary principals face to meet acco	ountability
expectations?	
Research Subquestion Four: What supports need to be in place in order for principals to n	
place accountability expectations?	
Assumptions	106
Recommendations for Future Research	
Implications for Professional Practice	
Implications for Educational Policy	
Chapter Summary	109
REFERENCES	110
ADDENDIN A DEGE ADOLLEGING DEVICENT ADDROVAL	105
APPENDIX A: RESEARCH ETHICS REVIEW APPROVAL	
APPENDIX B: SEMISTRUCTURED INTERVIEW GUIDE	
APPENDIX C: STUDY DESCRIPTION	
APPENDIX D: LETTER OF INFORMATION AND INFORMED CONSENT	
APPENDIX E: INTERVIEW GUIDE TWO	
APPENDIX F: VITAE	133

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I am grateful to my parents for providing me with a daily example of integrity, hard-work, dedication, and a commitment to serving others. These lessons continue to serve me well. I am appreciative of my brother, Greg, who can lift my spirits instantly, my grandparents who hold a special place in my life, and my Uncle Stuart who means more to me than he will ever know.

I am deeply grateful for the support and guidance of my thesis advisor, Dr. Katina Pollock. From our second course onward, you inspired us to strive for excellence and to maintain high standards. Thank you for making yourself so accessible and for your patient guidance, advice, and positive approach throughout the research and thesis-writing process. Thank you to Dr. Brenton Faubert for serving as my committee member and for his thought-provoking feedback, which has undoubtedly strengthened my final product. Thank you also to Dr. Michele Schmidt, Dr. Alan Pomfret, Dr. Jason Brown, Dr. Melody Viczko, and Dr. Saad Chahine for serving as my defense examination committee.

Thank you to Clare Arena who was my teaching partner throughout this journey and on a daily basis provided unwavering support, kind words, timely text messages, and butter tarts. I also want to acknowledge my critical friend, Laurie Behan, who shares my passion for education. Thank you also to Suzanne Bartolini who has been part of my university journey since the first day, and to Indira Yerramilli for being a wonderful colleague and an even better friend, and my entire Sprucecourt family.

I am forever grateful to Jennifer Flinn for being my first call and partner through every step of this program. And finally, thank you to the members of our cohort. I am honoured to have walked this road with each of you.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Conceptual Framework: Multiple Accountability Systems in Principals' Work

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A: Research Ethics Review Approval

Appendix B: Semistructured Interview Guide

Appendix C: Study Description to Dr. Joanne Robinson, Ontario Principals' Council

Appendix D: Letter of Information and Informed Consent

Appendix E: Interview Guide Two

Appendix F: Vitae

Chapter 1: Introduction

The role of the elementary school principal has changed significantly throughout the last several decades. According to Spiro (2013), principals' work in the 1960s primarily focused on "...the B's—buses, boilers, and books" (p. 28). The principal was responsible for overseeing the school site, providing supervision for the staff, handling parental concerns, and managing student behaviour (Spiro, 2013). During this time, it was generally assumed that the principal was performing their duties well if the school's physical site appeared to be well-maintained and clean, teaching and learning was happening, and the board office was not receiving complaints from disgruntled parents (Spiro, 2013).

In schools today, ensuring the physical plant is kept in good condition and maintaining a satisfied parent community remain important; however, the issue of accountability has become more complex. Within the last few decades, there has been a notable increase in the number of policies and initiatives from the Ministry of Education and school boards that Ontario principals are expected to oversee and implement. Another significant change has been the introduction of large-scale student assessments through the Education Quality Accountability Office (EQAO), which occur annually. In addition, as the position of authority within their schools, there is also an expectation that principals will provide instructional leadership and conduct performance appraisals of the teaching staff.

Principals are expected to be both leaders and managers within their respective school sites (Louis, Leithwood, Wahlstrom, & Anderson, 2010; Kowalski, 2010; The Institute for Educational Leadership, 2013). This requires striking a balance between managing the operational aspects of their work, and leading their staff members away from the status quo and guiding them toward making positive changes in their practice (Leithwood, Harris, & Hopkins,

2008; Louis, Leithwood, Wahlstrom, & Anderson, 2010; Leithwood, 2012). Principals' work has become more complex due to the escalation of accountability expectations. In fact, Ranson (2003) contends that the processes surrounding accountability have become "no longer merely an important instrument or component within the system, but constitutes the system itself" (p. 459). Elmore (2005) emphasizes that accountability has always been a critical part of how schools function. He posits that there are three ways accountability originates for principals: (a) principals' personal beliefs surrounding what is necessary and beneficial to the school community, (b) the norms of the workplace, and (c) formal expectations. Increasingly, policy is playing an integral role in school accountability, yet principals continue to have some flexibility in decision-making.

The provincial government creates policies to ensure that schools reflect changes occurring within society (Fullan, 2001). For the purpose of my research, I consider the policies imposed by the Ontario Ministry of Education to be the formal aspects of principals' work. Several of these fundamental policies are: Bill 212 – Progressive Discipline and School Safety (2007), Equity and Inclusivity Education in Ontario Schools (2009), and Growing Success: Assessment, Evaluation, and Reporting in Ontario Schools (2010a). These policies are considered mandatory and compliance is expected. Principals are accountable to implement and fulfill the intended outcomes of each policy with little flexibility, despite the needs of their specific school context (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2010b; Pollock, Wang, & Hauseman, 2014). The absolute nature of this aspect of principals' work indicates that school leadership is heavily mired as middle management and that principals function as a school-based agent for implementing government policy in schools, despite their personal beliefs surrounding what is in the best interest of the school community.

Principals must strike a balance between honouring policy expectations and integrating what they personally value into their schools, which presents a unique challenge. Thus, principals must become experts at reading situations and identifying where the greatest need exists and then managing each situation to the best of their ability. Doing so successfully frequently requires simultaneously juggling multiple forms of accountability (Pollock & Winton, 2015). Achieving this balance prevents principals from prioritizing policy-based work over interaction with students, participation in the learning environment, and serving the needs of the school community. This has the potential to create tensions for principals as they may need to prioritize bureaucratic and professional accountability over what they personally value and deem important.

Problem of Practice

Accountability is fundamental in democratic societies. Principals are responsible for many forms of accountability that exist simultaneously in their work (Emstad, 2011). Numerous policies and an increasing number of initiatives legislated by the provincial government and the Ministry of Education constitute a significant amount of the workload facing principals. However, this only represents the formal aspects of accountability that they must attend to daily. Principals are accountable to diverse parent communities (Ryan, 2006) and for ensuring that the education provided in their schools adheres to the Ontario curriculum and meets the varying needs of all learners. They are also accountable for ensuring the school environment adheres to health and safety regulations, while also promoting opportunities for relevant professional development to the teaching staff to enhance the quality of instruction students receive (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2014). Underlying all of these formal, law-mandated accountabilities, however, are the less formal aspects of moral accountability that each principal deems important

4

based on the specific needs of their respective schools. These aspects of moral accountability could potentially be pushed aside to manage the other increasing formal aspects of accountability. This represents a significant source of stress for many principals as they may have to extend their work day to manage these varying expectations, which leads to what is considered *work intensification* (Pollock et al., 2014). Thus, the competing forms of accountability create tension between what principals must contend with from their employers [the board and Ministry of Education] and what they believe to be in the best interest of their school's students, community, and staff.

The public education system is changing and the role of principal is becoming deeply entrenched in various forms of accountability (Firestone & Shipps, 2005; Pollock & Winton, 2015). The purpose of this study is to examine how elementary school principals in Ontario understand and manage seven (bureaucratic, professional, performance-based, legal, moral, political, and market) different, and at times conflicting, accountability expectations that comprise their work. The Principalship is dictated by policy and systems of accountability to ensure that specific criteria are met (Firestone & Shipps, 2005). While accountability for student learning and achievement is a primary responsibility for principals, there are numerous other forms of accountability that consume a significant amount of principals' time (Firestone & Shipps, 2005; Pollock & Winton, 2015). Managing the different forms of accountability requires the continuous attention of elementary school principals and presents ongoing challenges: attending to one form of accountability may take time away from another that would also benefit from principals' attention. Several of these accountability systems represent the formal aspects of principals' work, and as a result may take precedence over the less formal types of accountability that are not required by law. This creates tensions as the forms of accountability frequently

compete for principals' time and attention. Increasingly, bureaucratic accountability requirements are consuming more of principals' time, which leaves less time to prioritize nonmandated forms of accountability.

This study reveals the interpretations principals have of the different accountability systems, as well as the challenges they face contending with increasing expectations; this study also investigates the formal and informal supports and strategies principals use to manage these expectations. By uncovering the challenges principals face in managing the different forms of accountability, this study helps provide a clearer understanding of how principals' work is intensifying.

Research Question and Research Subquestions

The aim of this study was to explore how elementary principals simultaneously manage the expectations from the seven forms of accountability that frequently compete for priority in their work. The overall research question being investigated was: "How are multiple accountability expectations influencing principals' work?"

My research subquestions were:

- 1. How do elementary school principals understand accountability in their work?
- 2. What strategies do elementary principals use to meet accountability expectations?
- 3. What challenges do elementary principals face to meet accountability expectations?
- 4. What supports need to be in place in order for principals to meet work-place accountability expectations?

The aim of this research was to explore and understand how principals are contending with the intensification of their work as a result of multiple accountability systems. The questions uncovered how accountability expectations for elementary principals have been

steadily increasing throughout the last few decades, the challenges principals face attempting to manage the different types of accountability, and the formal and informal supports available to assist principals when required.

Significance of the Study

My study sought to understand how multiple accountability systems influence elementary principals' work. The role of principals has become more complex and their work has intensified as a result of the increased expectations of the role, including: meeting the specific academic, social, and emotional needs of diverse student populations; maintaining necessary contact and providing support for struggling families; ensuring a safe school environment by adhering to health and safety regulations; overseeing the fulfillment of numerous policies and initiatives; navigating the parameters of various collective agreements for each of the unions represented within schools; promoting ongoing professional learning; acting as instructional leaders; and supporting staff members through EQAO testing and formal reporting periods (Leithwood, Azah, Harris, Slater, & Jantzi, 2014; Pollock et al., 2014; Pollock & Hauseman, 2015). While not a comprehensive list, these requirements represent many of the formal aspects of principals' work; however, it does not include the less formal aspects that principals value and students, staff, and the school community deem important. In order to navigate this work intensification, principals must be creative when determining how to adhere to the formal requirements and occasionally decide what they are willing to concede. For some principals, the options include extending their work day to be present in the school and participate in the less formal aspects of the school day, or remain in their offices and preserve their personal time after the school day has ended. Other principals attempt to creatively combine accountabilities, while seeking

organizational support from teacher leaders or outside agencies to fulfill areas of need within the school.

Accountability

There are numerous definitions of accountability and while many are similar, there are also notable differences. Normore (2004) posits that when a person or an organization is accountable for something, there is an expectation they will be held responsible for their actions and decisions. Elementary principals are accountable to their stakeholders and as such, they may be called upon to justify their decisions.

Accountability in Schools

Since the 1990s, there has been a steady increase in the type of accountability systems that exist in Ontario schools (Firestone & Shipps, 2005; Pollock & Winton, 2015). Thus, it is not surprising that the responsibilities of elementary school principals are deeply rooted in numerous, often conflicting, systems of accountability (Firestone & Shipps, 2005; Pollock & Winton, 2015). It is the responsibility of principals to ensure that schools are equitable institutions where all students have opportunities to thrive and succeed. Principals are also held accountable for encouraging parental engagement, resulting from Ontario's 2006 Parent Involvement Policy. This policy was intended to create a more welcoming environment in schools, which would ideally lead to increased collaboration between home and school and provide opportunities for parents to support their children's learning (Kugler & Flessa, 2007).

Principals' work is grounded in accountability: Some aspects are mandated through legislation and other decisions are determined by a moral purpose based on what the principal believes to be in the best interest of the school and community. It is commonly understood that principals will effectively implement reform efforts initiated at the board and Ministry levels and

"also... push back when the mandates seem unreasonable" (Kugler & Flessa, 2007, p. 1).

Everything that occurs on school property is ultimately the responsibility of the principal, and the last few decades have proven to be a challenging time of change in education. Kugler and Flessa (2007) acknowledge that society has high expectations for school principals: They posit that it is generally assumed principals "have the knowledge, skills, and dispositions to work well not only within schools, but also within districts and within communities" (Kugler & Flessa, 2007, p. 1) given that elementary school principals are accountable to all stakeholders.

Crum, Sherman, and Myran (2009), acknowledge that although the "goals of the accountability movement were largely intended to improve equity and student learning, we have experienced a number of unintended consequences of a complex system of assessment and accountability" (p. 51). Ensuring that students and staff are meeting the accountability-based criteria expected of them is ultimately the responsibility of school principals. One significant challenge remains a lack of adequate training and resources in numerous areas where principals are held responsible. Thus, understanding how elementary school principals understand and manage these accountability-based expectations warrants further investigation, and is the focus of this study.

Ontario's Elementary Principals and Accountability

Ontario's Education Act provides principals with legal requirements and outlines the legislated responsibilities to which principals must adhere. In Section 265 of the Education Act, entitled "Duties of principal" (Education Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.E.2), the areas of responsibility for principals are listed and essentially fall into three main categories. These include: (a) ensuring that the health and safety standards of the school are maintained to safeguard all students and staff from any preventable harm. This requires that the principal remain vigilant and report any

potential areas of concern regarding unsanitary conditions or communicable diseases to the Medical Officer of Health; (b) ensuring that proper documentation through examinations, maintaining student records, and reporting of student progress to both the board and the parents (when dealing with minor children) occurs; and (c) that principals act as an instructional leader within their school. Section 265 (1) of the Education Act states, "It is the duty of a principal of a school, in addition to the principal's duties as a teacher..." which speaks to the understanding that principals are expected to lead by example within their schools. This also encompasses the responsibility that principals have to provide management for the school itself, through maintaining a visitor sign-in book, creating a timetable that is accessible to all stakeholders, overseeing that only board-approved textbooks are being used in classrooms, and determining and following through on decisions that prevent certain people from having access to the school based on the need to prevent physical and/or mental harm to students.

In addition to the Education Act, elementary school principals in Ontario are also accountable to various school board initiatives and strategies, amendments to policies, and new legislation. An educational policy or regulation may be defined as an expectation written by people in positions of authority for the purpose of guiding the actions of those who work within the realm of education (Bascia, Cumming, Datnow, Leithwood, & Livingstone, 2005). For instance, Rowan's Law (Bill 149) represents the first concussion-based legislation in Canada that focuses on educating coaches, parents, and the athletes themselves. As a result of this law, Ontario schools will be providing concussion awareness, including how the symptoms may manifest, accurate information on head injuries, the long-term risks, and also when a student-athlete is ready to return to play. Introducing Rowan's Law will require principals to determine

how it is delivered and followed-up at their school site, following the mandatory compliance training.

Accountability for student learning and achievement is a primary responsibility for principals (Elmore, 2005). Large-scale student assessment is one method for ensuring that students are receiving the education they require and that school systems are meeting the students' academic needs (Popham, 1999; Ben Jaafar & Earl, 2008). However, in schools today, student performance is not the only performance accountability for which principals are ultimately responsible. Instead, there are several other forms of accountability that consume significant amounts of time during the principals' workday (Pollock et al., 2014). Principals are responsible for the performance of teachers on a daily basis in addition to the formal process of the Teacher Performance Appraisal (TPA), as well as supporting all staff who work in the building.

Positionality

Managing accountability is a formidable challenge for all educators and this is particularly true for principals. My experiences, observations, and ultimately my reflections as a Caucasian, Christian, English-speaking Canadian woman and an educator in Ontario's public school system has led me toward this research. My interest in accountability systems in Ontario public schools has developed through my varied experiences and observations regarding how expectations surrounding accountability have changed during my 18 years of service. The early years of my teaching career were fraught with political unrest resulting from the governance changes that occurred when Mike Harris' Conservative government repealed Bill 100 in 1997, marking the beginning of a tumultuous time in Ontario's public education system (Levin, 2009). In fact, during my final teaching practicum in December 1997, I joined the 160, 000 Ontario

teachers who left their classrooms to join picket lines in opposition to Bill 160. This change in legislation recategorized school principals as management, which meant they were no longer affiliated with the teacher unions. Another significant change resulting from Bill 160 was the creation of a new curriculum for each subject and grade, and the initiation of a formal accountability process for student success through provincial testing of Ontario students and formal teacher evaluation (Levin, 2009).

My work in one of the largest school boards in Canada as a classroom teacher and my many years of collaboration as part of the leadership team in a Position of Responsibility (POR) has made the changes in accountability expectations even more apparent. Based on the belief systems of the principal, teachers holding a POR may be included or excluded from many of the decisions that determine priorities for the school. During my tenure in this role, I have worked with six different principals and each has welcomed my contributions to the decision-making process and the support I provided by leading various programs from outside agencies and initiatives within the school community. These programs brought leadership opportunities for the student body through athletics, social justice education, antibullying initiatives, instrumental music, art through design and technology, and computer science; the principals embraced these programs because the programs enhanced the school community. Many principals look to teacher leadership to coordinate these activities as opportunities for fostering future leaders within the system and sometimes simply because they do not have time. I believe strongly in collaboration and recognizing that all educators within schools are accountable to the students and families they service, and as such I work closely with my colleagues across grade divisions and endeavour to create opportunities for professional learning that will positively impact student learning. My experience indicates that in recent years, these efforts are being more strongly encouraged and valued.

Similarly, the majority of my years of teaching experience are at the Grades 3 and 6 levels, and I have experienced the increasing amount of pressure to ensure that students are prepared to write and be successful on the annual EQAO assessments. Each year, there are optional but encouraged sessions offered on how to prepare students for EQAO testing provided through the Family of Schools, and many principals suggest using previous test questions as a method to prepare students for the nuances of the assessments. However, there are some principals who expect that teachers prepare students and inquire how the "preparation" is going. Often this emphasis on EQAO is driven by members of parent community who are keen to know what is being done to assist their children and, of course, how they can support the process at home.

Accountability is something that all educators constantly strive to manage. Bourke (2014) refers to the idea of researchers being both insiders and outsiders and in many respects, I feel this represents my position in this research. While I am not formally considered to be school administration, I do have additional responsibilities designated by the principal, thus positioning me both within and outside my the research. England (1994) suggests research is a shared space that is created by the participants and the researcher. In striving to remain reflexive throughout the research process, I have spent considerable time determining my positionality with regard to the increase in accountability expectations that impact principals' work. My reflections have brought me to understand my position as being a witness to what principals are experiencing with regard to increased accountability expectations because teacher leaders are able to provide support for principals who are stretched for time. Yet, as a classroom teacher with only some

designated leadership opportunities in the school, I also consider myself to be an outsider in this research.

As Foote and Bartell (2011) posit, "the positionality that researchers bring to their work, and the personal experiences through which positionality is shaped, may influence what researchers may bring to research encounters, their choice of processes, and their interpretations of outcomes" (p. 46). Bourke (2014) also describes positionality as a challenge for researchers because they must remain objective about their findings despite their personal experiences creating the potential for subjectivity. Thus, throughout my research process I prioritized recognizing the importance of ongoing reflection and reflexivity about the information this study generates, and the impact my findings may have on this growing body of research.

Organization of Chapters

This thesis is organized into six chapters. The first chapter describes my statement of the problem, my problem of practice, the research question and subquestions, the significance of the study, accountability and the Ontario context, and my positionality.

Chapter 2 reviews the available literature on accountability and how it influences principals' work, and is organized into four sections: (a) definitions of terminology, (b) accountability in education, (c) educational policy as accountability, (d) how policy influences principals' work, and (e) strategies for managing multiple accountability systems. This chapter concludes with a discussion of my conceptual framework, which highlights the multiple forms of accountability that comprise principals' work.

Chapter 3 outlines the methodology for my qualitative, interpretive study. I conducted a total of 12 semistructured interviews with elementary school principals from two different urban

public school boards. In this chapter, I describe my approach to data analysis and interpretation and conclude with a discussion about the trustworthiness of this study.

Chapter 4 presents the findings to my research question. Three themes emerged from the data: (a) competing forms of accountability create challenges for elementary principals, (b) accountability-based work contributes to work intensification for principals, and (c) principals use strategies to manage work intensification.

Chapter 5 presents a discussion surrounding my research findings and my interpretation of the collected data. In this section, I argue that elementary principals are experiencing work intensification as a result of increased accountability-based expectations, which is changing the nature of principals' work. My findings indicate that the increased amount of work facing principals is creating tensions as a result of: (a) not having enough time during the work day to complete all that is expected of them, (b) smart phone technology prevents principals from being able to disconnect from their work responsibilities and interferes with their personal life, and (c) pressure from themselves, as well as staff, parents, and students to be more involved in school life.

Chapter 6 presents the conclusions I derived from my analysis of the interview data. In this chapter, I discuss the assumptions within my study, as well as implications and potential future changes to educational policy. This chapter ends with recommendations for further research.

Chapter 2: Literature Review and Conceptual Framework

Some of the most challenging demands currently facing elementary school principals stem from managing the various forms of accountability at the core of their work. This literature review will investigate how education scholars understand accountability and how Ontario principals understand and manage numerous and often conflicting accountability-based expectations in their work (Pollock & Winton, 2015). It will also define and examine accountability in public education and the different types of accountability that influence principals' work. Following my review of the existing literature, I outline my conceptual framework, which highlights the seven different forms of accountability that informed my study.

Definitions of Terminology

For the purpose of clarification, I use the definition of *accountable* as being responsible for a particular outcome and preparedness to deliver a response to another person regarding their performance; *accountability* is holding someone responsible for their decisions or the end result of a decision that has been made; *accountability systems/approaches* are constructs that exist in isolation based on a set of expectations or beliefs that are to be upheld by a responsible body of people or an individual; and *expectations* are aspects of accountability that combine to create the obligations of the person(s) responsible for performing the appointed tasks.

Accountability in Education

There are numerous definitions for the term *school accountability*. For instance, Stecher and Kirby (2004) describe school accountability as being "the practice of holding educational systems responsible for the quality of their products—students' knowledge, skills, and behaviours" (p. 24). Another definition by Linn (2003) regards accountability as being a shared responsibility that leads to improved education that extends beyond teachers and students to also

include school administration, the parent community, educational researchers, and policymakers (Ng, 2010).

The work of elementary school principals is rooted in different systems of accountability (Firestone & Shipps, 2005). In general, these accountabilities arise from the specific needs of their respective school communities and through mandated government policies (Pak, 2010; Pollock & Winton, 2015). Thus, it is imperative for principals to manage numerous forms of accountability simultaneously (Pollock & Winton, 2015; Pinto 2015), requiring a skillful approach and creative ways to find solutions for existing issues.

According to Dwivedi, Jabbra, and Stone (1989), there are seven forms of accountability that coexist in public schools. These systems of accountability fall into the categories of: market, political, legal, professional, moral, administrative/bureaucratic, and performance-based.

Market accountability. Market accountability is based on the premise that schools will improve through competition (Pollock & Winton, 2015; Firestone & Shipps, 2005). This includes competition for teaching positions as well as between schools, which provides parents with options for their child (Firestone and Shipps, 2005). The prevalence of market accountability is greater in the United States, where it is believed that competition yields improved quality and access to different options and preferences, as it often does in business (Darling-Hammond, 2004). The American education system provides parents with more options through charter schools, vouchers, and incentives, resulting in a more competitive market for schooling. However, in Ontario, market accountability exists somewhat differently. Within the four different publicly funded school boards that comprise Ontario's public education system (English Public, English Catholic, French Public, and French Catholic) competition for student enrollment, which translates into funding dollars in an era of declining birth rates, (Alphonso &

Bradshaw, 2014) creates competition. In addition, parents may choose to remove their children from the public school system entirely and send them to private schools for religious reasons or for specific services that are offered through a particular school (e.g., special education needs).

Another aspect of market accountability in Ontario's public schools results from the influence publishing the EQAO school results has on property values and neighbourhood desirability. The Fraser Institute, the EQAO website, widely circulated newspapers, and other forms of media all publicize which schools have achieved or exceeded the provincial standard and which have been less successful. In recent years, real estate agents have been including EQAO information regarding school catchment areas as part of their headlines to capture the attention of potential buyers. While these publications do not directly influence principals' work on a daily basis, there appears to be an emerging social pressure for principals to ensure that their schools' scores are increasing. Experiencing similar changes toward the end of the last century, the Ministries of Education for both Icelandic and Ontario schools began turning their focus toward quality assurance for the education being provided and streamlining resources (Lárusdóttir, 2014).

Many critics of market-oriented reforms have expressed concern that competition and choice in education leads to a decrease in the level of equity that exists in school systems, particularly for students with low socioeconomic status (Moorman, Nusche, & Pont, 2008). However, findings from an Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) 2007 report indicate that all students, particularly students with low SES, benefit when schools enact policies that allow for "school influence on staffing decisions, school autonomy in determining course content, private operation, government funding, and more equalized government between private and public schools" (Moorman, Nusche, & Pont, 2008, p. 34). This

finding supports the belief that schools should determine the members of their staff based on the needs within the school, that the curriculum being delivered must be relevant to students, and that government monetary funds should distributed equitably.

Political accountability. Political accountability reflects the responsibility of people who have been elected to public office and are in decision-making positions, enabling them to create and change policies based on the needs and wants of society (Firestone & Shipps, 2005). The people holding these elected positions must also face their constituents should they decide to stand for reelection (Darling-Hammond, 2004). School board trustees and members of government are examples of people who hold political accountability in education (Pollock & Winton, 2015) because they are accountable to the general public for their actions and positions on specific issues (Normore, 2010). According to Pollock and Winton (2015), the impact of elected officials in the United States is far greater than it is in Ontario. Political accountability for some principals working in the United States may make them "liable directly to legislators, governors, and judges for a number of education related issues such as establishing schools and determining taxes" (Pollock & Winton, 2015, p. 6-7). As such, it is believed by some in American schools that educators are accountable to the general public because their employment is held by elected officials (Gonzalez & Firestone, 2012).

Legal accountability. Legal accountability aligns with the legislated policies and laws in place to ensure that schools and the people who work in them adhere to the specific laws and guidelines imposed by the government (Darling-Hammond, 1989). The Education Act is the main statue that governs how schools function in the province of Ontario (Ontario Public School Boards Association, 2014). Within schools, principals have policy-based mandates that must be fulfilled as part of their legal accountability. For instance, they must ensure that staff compliance

training mandates are met, that educational provisions are in place to meet the learning needs of students, and that there is a standard for general health and safety both in the school and on school property (Normore, 2010). Legal accountability may also involve establishing rights for people or groups, as well as defending the rights of people that are being overlooked (Darling-Hammond, 2004).

In Finland, legal accountability in schools is managed at the municipal level, where the guidelines for how schools will function in each area are created based on their respective needs (Saarivirta & Kumpulainen, 2016). This is not the case in Ontario, where principals are legally accountable to uphold the Education Act, which is based on legislation intended for all schools within the province.

Professional accountability. Accountability is considered to be an important dimension of professionalism (Moller, 2009), as professional accountability is valued and expected within the realm of education. For teachers, "The Standards of Practice for the Teaching Profession" are delineated through the Ontario College of Teachers and are intended to "provide a framework of principles that describes the knowledge, skills, and values inherent in Ontario's teaching profession" (Ontario College of Teachers, 2012). These standards outline what is expected of teachers in their daily work, which includes ensuring that they have acquired the appropriate knowledge and skills to make them effective in their practice (Darling-Hammond, 2004).

The work of Ontario's principals is guided by the Ontario Leadership Framework, which represents a significant piece of the Ontario Leadership Strategy (The Institute for Education Leadership, 2013). It is generally considered to be a document that supports school leadership, district-level leadership, and future school leaders by identifying practices and optimum personal characteristics, as well as providing guidelines surrounding effective leadership practices and

how effective administrations function (The Institute for Education Leadership, 2013). The Ontario Leadership Framework is comprised of five Core Leadership Capacities that are considered essential to achieving the educational goals established by the Ontario government. The five leadership capacities are: (a) setting goals, (b) aligning resources with priorities, (c) promoting collaborative learning cultures, (d) using data, and (e) engaging in courageous conversations (The Institute for Education Leadership, 2013). The Ontario Principals' Council (OPC), also highlights aspects of school leadership that are necessary to ensure optimum learning environments for students. Principals are encouraged to incorporate practices that prioritize student-centered teaching and learning conditions through: (a) setting direction, (b) building relationships and developing people, (c) developing the organization to support desired practices, (d) improving the instructional program, and (e) securing accountability (Ontario Principals' Council, 2013).

For principals, professional accountability has two-dimensions. As the figure of management within schools, principals hold the ultimate responsibility for ensuring that teaching and learning are happening in classrooms, "through monitoring of identified instructional issues" (Pollock & Winton, 2015, p. 7). Another dimension comes from principals' willingness to "share leadership responsibilities by encouraging teachers' self-direction and collaboration" (Firestone & Shipps, 2005, p. 88): Principals take responsibility for building the capacity within their schools to encourage future leaders.

As in Ontario, principals in Finnish schools worked as teachers prior to taking on Principalship, which often leads to working approximately 60 hours per week and experiencing workplace stress (Saarivirta, 2009). As part of their professional accountability, the Finnish National Board of Education organizes principal training and qualifying exams that each

prospective principal must pass in order to receive the mandatory diploma (Saarivirta & Kumpulainen, 2016). Despite these opportunities for learning, however, many Finnish principals find these measures do not adequately help them meet the demands of principals' work, which often leads them to seek further leadership training (Saarivirta & Kumpulainen, 2016).

Moral accountability. Moral accountability reflects the ethical and moral foundation upon which a person, a group of people, or an organization views the world and acts upon their beliefs (Pollock & Winton, 2015). It is also considered to be "powerful and binding" (Moller, 2009, p. 40) as it necessitates accepting responsibility for impacting people's lives. Moral accountability may also be seen as providing guidelines for behaviour based in "personal integrity, adherence to personal and communal values, and empathy for others" (Firestone & Shipps, 2005, p. 88). This view aligns with Normore (2004) who also believes moral accountability is based on a principal's commitment to what is valued within their school: Moral accountability influences their professional practices because they act based on what they believe to be in the best interest of the student body and school community. Moral accountability in schools may take the form of social justice, where opportunities are provided for students that otherwise would not have been possible (Firestone & Shipps, 2005).

Within the Finnish education system, there is recognition that within the country "different regions have different needs," (Saarivirta & Kumpulainen, 2016, p. 1274), a view that acknowledges a need for equity. The structure of the decision-making process allows for more consideration to be given to the local needs of each community, even with matters of curriculum. For instance, students who live closer to the Russian border of Finland are able to take Russian as opposed to Swedish, which would be more appropriate for students who live closer to Sweden (Saarivirta & Kumpulainen, 2016). Such consideration prioritizes what is needed in each school:

"the school-based curriculum" (Saarivirta & Kumpulainen, 2016, p. 1275) is developed by a municipal-level curriculum unit that requires the approval of the school principals. Accordingly, this gives principals some additional ability to address the specific needs of their school community.

Administrative/bureaucratic accountability. This form of accountability aligns closely with a top-down structure where workers take orders from, and are accountable to, their superiors. This system of accountability is hierarchical as it is bound by rules and regulations that must be followed in order to ensure compliance (Elmore, 2005). Dwivedi et al. (1989) posit that decisions "determined at the superior level are followed, and supervisory control is exercised intensively with a clear understanding for the need to follow orders" (p. 6). The conformity expected as a result of supervisory control becomes the responsibility of educators, which they must enact in their practice (Elmore, 2005). There are many examples of bureaucratic accountability in public education today. For instance, teachers are accountable to their school principals, principals are accountable to their superintendents, who are accountable to their Director of Education, who is accountable to the school board trustees (Firestone & Shipps, 2005). All parties, however, are ultimately accountable to the provincial government. Similarly, another aspect of bureaucratic accountability is the government-based policies and procedures that elementary principals are responsible to bring to fruition within their respective school sites. Pinto (2015) acknowledges the complexity of the policies that accumulate and continue to present schools "with mandatory, prescriptive policy layers ...that directs practice in schools" (p. 143). While this is not an exhaustive list, many of these policies include how students are assessed in classrooms, requirements for daily physical activity, policies surrounding mental

health, special education accommodations and modifications, expectations surrounding equity in schools, and the delivery of the English as a Second Language (ESL) program (Pinto, 2015).

Bureaucratic accountability exists differently in various countries. In Finland, principals have control over how the funds from their respective schools' budgets are allocated; they have some allowances with what curriculum is taught in schools, but do not have absolute control over the staff hiring process—the final decisions are made by the municipal school authority (Saarivirta & Kumpulainen, 2016). In Iceland, the foci of principals' work has shifted away from teaching and learning and toward accountability for school finances and operations within the site (Hansen, Johannsson, & Lárusdóttir, 2004).

Performance-based accountability. Ben Jaafar and Anderson (2007) describe the Canadian approach to performance-based accountability as focusing on accountability for school improvement, rather than for the purpose of evaluating schools. For instance, when specific academic areas are identified as weak, principals will prioritize these areas for more intensive instruction. It is the responsibility of principals and all practitioners who work in education to ensure that students are achieving the provincial standard on EQAO assessments. Ontario elementary schools have a four-level, tiered system that corresponds to letter grade ranges. Thus, the B- to B+ ranges would align with Level 3 achievement (EQAO, 2012). While EQAO represents the only provincially run large-scale assessment in Ontario, there are other smaller-scale prescriptive assessments that individual schools, school boards, and Families of Schools look to for student performance information.

When a school is deemed underachieving by EQAO results, the principal must seek necessary supports and devise a plan that will improve student performance (Emstad, 2011). In 2011, 96% of Ontario principals surveyed said that they looked to EQAO assessment results to

inform their school improvement planning and to identify areas of strength and need, respectively, in reading, writing, and mathematics (EQAO, 2012). This improvement may come in the form of school-based interventions: for example, professional development opportunities for teachers with centrally assigned instructional leaders, other in-house curriculum experts (Emstad, 2011), or more formal channels assigned through EQAO (EQAO, 2012). The formal EQAO interventions for underachieving schools, such as Ontario Focused Intervention Partnership (OFIP) and Schools in the Middle (EQAO, 2012), provide the identified schools with strategies and tools that will assist them to "develop and implement targeted improvement plans" (EQAO, 2012, p. 13).

Creating a school environment that prioritizes high academic achievement is essential to the Principalship today. This is particularly important as evidence suggests there is growing support for EQAO testing among many Ontario parent communities (EQAO, 2010). As Rosenkvist (2010) states, "88% of parents consider the provincial testing program important, and 69% place high importance on having this indication of their child's achievement in relation to the provincial standard" (p. 19). Thus, it seems probable that if parents value the standardized assessments, they expect that schools are preparing their children for the assessment. Ultimately, the onus of expectation falls onto the school principal.

In Singapore's educational system, the performance-based accountability of schools manifests in three ways: the school ranking, the School Excellence Model, and the School Awards system (Ng, 2010). Within the realm of school ranking, all secondary schools and preuniversities are annually ranked according to three areas and the results are published in the media (Ng, 2010). The areas being ranked include: (a) students' overall results from national exams, (b) students' improvement compared to their examination performance when they first

entered the school, which is referred to as "value-added-ness," and (c) students' performance on the National Physical Fitness Test and the percentage of overweight students (Ng, 2010).

Schools in Singapore report directly to the Ministry of Education and not a local school board, which means that all teachers and principals are direct employees of the Ministry of Education (Ng, 2010).

Smaller scale examples of performance-based accountability. In Ontario public schools, apart from EQAO testing, there are several less formal academic accountability measures that may be utilized to provide information regarding the academic performance of students. For instance, students attending schools that qualify for the Model Schools for Inner Cities (MSIC) program in the Toronto District School Board (TDSB) receive the Canadian Achievement Test 4, a Canadian-designed, multiple-choice assessment that may be conducted at the beginning of a new school year and closely aligns with the Ontario curriculum. The results are quickly returned, providing schools with valuable data that identifies "1. The strengths and needs of individual students, classrooms, and grades, 2. Trends over time with cohorts of students, 3. Student progress against him/herself over time" [Taken from TDSB, MSIC News 2011-2012, Term 1 Update]. This test also serves to triangulate achievement data from varying sources that include EQAO results, in-class assessments, report card data, and achievement gap data (TDSB, 2011-2012). Thus, this assessment provides data that is both timely and relevant to improving instructional practice, which may contribute to improved student achievement.

Origins of performance-based accountability. Ontario's education system is performance based (Pollock & Winton, 2015). The Education Quality Accountability Office Act of 1996 was created as a result of the findings and recommendations from the 1995 Royal Commission on Learning. The agency was created to assure the public that Ontario students

were being assessed based on identified skills at specific points as they progressed through their educational journey. In the province of Ontario, educational accountability is maintained through the EQAO large-scale testing that provides yearly information on how elementary students in Grades 3 and 6 perform (Ben Jaafar & Earl, 2008). The content of these large-scale assessments is based on Ontario curriculum requirements mandated by the Ministry of Education, and focus on student proficiency in reading, writing, and mathematics. In September 2000, the EQAO introduced Grade 9 assessment of mathematics and in September 2002, introduced the Ontario Secondary School Literacy Test (OSSLT) to all Grade 10 students, with the understanding that receiving a passing grade was a requirement for graduation (EQAO, 2012). As a result, secondary school graduation rates, suspension rates, and student voice surveys are considered fundamental when assessing the effectiveness of an education system, because they represent the outcomes of four years of focused attention following the elementary grades. These results inform the decision-making that allows for improvements and planning within the school system.

Consequences of performance-based accountability. The consequences facing Ontario principals for underachieving on performance-based accountability assessments are far less severe than those faced by principals in the United States, where the punitive consequences for poor outcomes may result in financial penalties and even loss of employment (Ben Jafaar & Anderson, 2007). It is for this reason that scholars and educational practitioners consider the education system in the United States to be high stakes. In Ontario, employment remains secure and there are no financial implications assigned to underperforming EQAO testing results; however, there are some consequences as the Fraser Institutes ranks and publishes the results (Pollock & Winton, 2015). A lower ranking negatively impacts schools and community development because real estate agents use this data to sell houses: the rankings frequently

impacts parents' choice of neighbourhood. This data is also used by the media when covering education in the news, and by municipalities when writing the bids that determine funding for social programs (Pollock & Winton, 2015). School boards also use EQAO data to determine which school sites require additional funding and support; this leads to pressure from the Ministry of Education to make improvements in identified areas of need. Another difference between performance-based accountability in the United States and Ontario is that, for educators working south of the border, the tests "are high-stakes for teachers but low-stakes for students" (William, 2010, p. 109). In Ontario, educators generally perceive the large-scale assessment to be how "we can find out whether instruction has had its intended effect, because even the best-designed instruction cannot be guaranteed to be effective" (William, 2010, p. 107). Thus, the EQAO assessments are intended to provide information about how students are performing at specific stages of their school years and about the effectiveness of schools with regard to improving student performance (EOAO, n.d.).

There are some conflicting viewpoints surrounding large-scale testing and whether it is truly intended to be a springboard for improving student learning outcomes. For instance, Hess (2002) argues that broadly publishing test results enforce "informal social pressures" (p. 112) and that the true purpose is to shame schools into amending their practices. This increased focus on meeting and exceeding the provincial standard contributes to the increased workload of Ontario school principals.

Performance-based accountability for teachers. Teachers constitute another area of performance accountability for which principals are responsible. In 2002, the Ministry of Education introduced the TPA process into Ontario schools, and drafted the Annual Learning Plan (ALP) document that was in place by 2004. These developments occurred following the

Harris Government's *Common Sense Revolution*, which sought to bring formalized accountability into the realm of education by discrediting the public sector in the eyes of Ontario residents. Harper's government presented the Quality in the Classroom Act (Ontario Government, 2001) as a way to ensure that Ontario students were receiving their education from teachers who were adequately performing their assigned duties. The provincial government touted the policy as promoting the professional growth and ongoing development of teachers and as an instrument of accountability, whereby teachers were consistently and fairly evaluated.

According to the Education Act, TPAs are to be conducted by the school vice-principal, principal, or a supervisory officer acting on behalf of the principal, and are based on the competencies explicitly laid out in the Ontario College of Teachers Standards of the Teaching Profession document. The competencies contained within include: pupils and pupil learning, professional knowledge, teaching practice, leadership and community, and ongoing professional learning (Ontario College of Teachers, 2004).

Public funding as accountability. Answerability is a prominent theme in all government-based arenas where significant amounts of money are allocated. Ben Jaafar and Anderson (2007) acknowledge that accountability has become "an integral part of policy development and implementation" (p. 207) in the Ontario public education system. In recent years, there has been increased public interest in the results of EQAO testing, since "public trust is secured by specifying performance and regulating compliance" (Ranson, 2003, p. 460). Thus, the results of the large-scale testing are one way the government provides citizens with assurance that schools are functioning adequately and students are learning the contents of the Ontario curriculum. As a measure of accountability, large-scale assessments have and continue to monitor student achievement. Jacobsen, Saultz, and Snyder (2013) substantiate this viewpoint by

acknowledging that, "because education is a public good, the public holds its schools accountable for their performance in order to make a judgment about how well this public institution is performing" (p. 361). Due to the enormity of education as a funding expenditure, questions surrounding the fiscal responsibilities of how public dollars are spent, and whether or not schools are delivering adequate education, are frequently considered in the public sphere.

Consequently, student learning outcomes and the effectiveness of the education system garner great attention from the public and are often central to political campaigns in Ontario.

Systems of accountability within schools. Jabbra and Dwivedi (1988) define public service accountability as "the methods by which a public agency or a public official fulfills its duties and obligations, and the process by which that agency or the public official is required to account for such actions" (p. 5). In the 1980s, a new focus on this form of accountability in the business realm originated early research into multiple accountability systems and the influence these systems had on managers and leaders. Jabbra and Dwivedi's description emphasizes the expectation that public sector workers serve the general public by being accountable and taking responsibility for their actions. Similarly, Stone, Dwivedi, and Jabbra (1989) argue that professionals working in the public sector have a responsibility to ensure their decisions and actions "[protect] the public interest" (p. 7) as part of their professional accountability. Given that public money funds Ontario's education system, the adaptation of public service accountability from the business to the education sector is unsurprising.

In the 1980s and 1990s there were "substantial initiatives undertaken world-wide to increase educational accountability" (Normore, 2004, p. 56), but the focus of the research was on student, teacher, and school accountability and not the accountability of school administrators and/or principals. While some research did begin during that time, there has been far more

interest and subsequent research conducted on school principals and their role within accountability since the turn of the century. For instance, Normore (2004), Darling-Hammond (2004), Firestone and Shipps (2005), Elmore (2005), Ben Jafaar and Earl (2008), Flessa and Gregoire (2011), Fullan (2011), and Pollock and Winton (2015) have conducted research on principals within the realm of accountability. It is important to note the vast majority of this research was conducted with a focus on the United States. It is for this reason my study has built upon the research of Pollock and Winton (2015). The work of Pollock and Winton (2015) originated with a case study approach that looked at how three principals from different school settings in Ontario managed multiple accountability expectations in their work. I have attempted to expand on their findings by conducting semistructured interviews on a larger sample of elementary school principals. As in the research of Pollock and Winton (2015), my intention was to further uncover the realities facing Ontario principals as they navigate multiple accountability systems, given that there continues to be insufficient research conducted in this area.

The understanding that principals must navigate between multiple accountability systems is not new within the field of educational leadership—a few researchers have been delving into this area for several decades. For principals to be successful, their work must encompass the needs of diverse student populations (Ryan, 2006), the parent community, and their staff members and their union affiliations; disruptions resulting from labour issues; time-consuming legislated policies; and accountability for student success (Pollock et al., 2014). Finding and maintaining a balance among each of these areas is not a new challenge for elementary school principals. Firestone and Shipps (2005) assert that, "educational leaders have long juggled conflicting accountabilities" (p. 81). These different types of accountability are often sources of conflict for principals, as some are required through provincial legislation, whereas others are

deemed important by the school community, staff, the student body, or by the principals themselves. While all forms of accountability are important, some accountabilities are prioritized, given that failing to fulfill policy-based responsibilities may result in reprimand.

The existing research highlights the enduring dilemma facing principals: how to prioritize different standards of accountability, while fulfilling their legal responsibilities and creating sustainable and innovative learning environments for students. This balancing act represents a significant challenge, as "principals' work often involves navigating seemingly irreconcilable government policies and community expectations while trying to live up to the idealized vision of instructional leadership" (Alberta Teachers' Association [ATA], 2014, p. 9). This reality frequently creates conditions where principals must determine how to prioritize the competing tensions that arise in their work.

Policy and accountability. Delving into how accountability is managed in schools is prudent because it is a fundamental element of schooling. Principals are responsible for creating a school culture conducive to productive teaching and learning based on the needs of their schools, while ensuring that imposed policies are implemented (Flessa, 2012). Accountability may be presented as a method for promoting school improvement and ensuring uniformity across the 3,974 (in 2014-2015) (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2012) elementary schools in Ontario, however, the unintended consequences it is having on principals' work may be undermining the initial good intentions.

On a daily basis, principals must meet the expectations of mandated government policies. The 2015 OPC report, "The Changing Nature of Principals' Work," identified five of the most prevalent provincial policies that influence how principals engage in their work, which consisted of Regulation 274/12 (Hiring Practice), Growing Success, Safe Schools Act – Bill 212, Bill 13

(Anti-bullying), and Bill 115 (Putting Students First Act) (Pollock et al., 2014). These mandated policies provide consistent guidelines for principals across Ontario. They are also incredibly time-consuming and constitute some of the nonnegotiable forms of accountability that principals must navigate. There is also the Ministry of Education's Code of Conduct (PPM 128), which outlines the importance of creating safe and accepting learning environments for teachers and students, where academic excellence is prioritized (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2012). Developing a system that promotes optimum learning opportunities for students requires meeting the needs of all students.

Change Resulting from Provincial Politics

The prevalence of policy in Ontario's education system is extensive. The infusion of policies has steadily increased since the 1995 provincial election when Mike Harris of the Progressive Conservative Party was elected Premier of Ontario. At the time, the changes brought forward by the Harris government were generally considered neoliberal in nature because they intended to cut many of the financial burdens that accompanied employee benefits and enact stronger regulations under the guise of fostering increased professionalism (Burke, Mooers, & Shields, 2000; Wrigley, 2008). This neoliberal influence led to "a number of education policy initiatives under the auspices of improving increased accountability based on a manufactured crisis spread via the Common Sense Revolution (CSR) that commenced in the late 1990s" (Pinto, 2015, p. 143). This crisis was marked by John Snobelen's statement about the need to create a crisis in education: "I think of it as creating a useful crisis. Creating a useful crisis is what part of this is about" (Krueger, 1995). While the CSR was touted as an attempt to lower taxes and alleviate economic issues by decreasing the deficit facing the province at the time (Rose, 2002), it also changed education into a business. It marked a time when the government

placed focus on increased accountability of public services; this led to the creation of the Ontario College of Teachers (OCT), which was considered to be "part and parcel of a plan to further centralize and regulate our schools—more provincial controls over curriculum, over funding, over standardized testing of our students, over methods of reporting to parents" (Robertson & Smaller, 1996, p. 128). The Education Quality Improvement Act, also known as Bill 160, changed the structure of Ontario's education system by removing principals and vice-principals from teacher unions, thus creating an additional tier of management.

Work Intensification as a Result of Accountability Expectations

The literature suggests that the demands placed on elementary school principals have increased in recent years and, as a result, the role has become more stressful (ATA, 2014). Pollock et al. (2014) determined that, on average, Ontario principals spend approximately 59 hours each week on their work. They also discovered that elementary principals allocate approximately 7.5 hours per week to manage the school, while 55% of the sample stated they would rather use that time differently (Pollock et al., 2014). The findings from the study indicated that principals would prefer to spend more time with staff providing instructional leadership and being more present among the student body. The study also highlighted the fact that principals were only able to be present during the less structured times of the day, which included recess, transition times between classes, and the lunchroom, on average for six hours per week (Pollock et al., 2014). Similarly, as a result of the high demand for principals' time on management-related tasks, Pollock et al. (2014) discovered that, on average, principals only had five hours per week available for attending to instructional leadership within schools. The study also revealed that an overwhelming, "82% would like to see this [amount of time] increase" (Pollock et al., 2014, p. 16) to work with their staff on curricular and instructional issues.

The national research study, *The Future of the Principalship in Canada* (2014), indicated similar results from elementary principals across Canada. The findings from both studies show that principals want to be more involved with students and engage in instructional leadership and professional learning with their staff members.

However, one interesting finding was that 79% of principals viewed accountability policies to be important or very important (ATA, 2014), despite the fact that attending to these tasks also consumed a significant amount of their workday. This suggests principals recognize the value that accountability-based policies bring to education. Thus, there appears to be competing tensions between how principals would prefer to spend time based on what they recognize will be good for students and staff members and completing the management components that are also integral to the function and safety of the school site.

Stress as a Result of Mounting Accountability Expectations

There is longstanding awareness about the stressful nature of educators' work. However, the majority of the existing research has focused on the circumstances of teachers, who are considered to be the frontline workers in education. It is only within the last 20 years that researchers have uncovered the stress that accompanies the work of school principals who have "historically been... middle manager[s] who translates educational policy from the central office to the classroom" (Rousmaniere, 2013, p. 1). Since then, there has been heightened emphasis placed on how Ontario youth are being educated and the quality of the teaching and learning that is happening in schools. This focus continues to heighten the work of principals who have "always carried multiple and often contradictory responsibilities, wearing many hats, and moving swiftly between multiple roles in the course of one day" (Rousmaniere, 2013, p. 2). One study, conducted by Borg and Riding (1993), sought to uncover the stress-causing aspects of

school administrators' work in Malta. The study identified that elementary principals experienced a higher degree of excessive stress from their work at 39.9 %, while secondary principals were slightly less at 36.5% (Borg & Riding, 1993). The study identified three primary sources of work-based stress: "frequent interruptions of work," "too much paperwork," and "lack of, or inadequate, school equipment and resources" (Borg & Riding, 1993, p. 2). The fact that there are numerous demands placed on principals is relevant, considering how fast-paced school environments can be on any given day. In many cases, being accountable necessitates paperwork—when managing numerous accountabilities, it is probable that as it accumulates the stress levels of the principals might as well.

Strategies for Managing Accountability Expectations

Within schools, there are different needs based on the school population and it is the responsibility of principals to meet these accountability demands.

Negotiate expectations. According to Pollock and Winton (2015), principals' success necessitates effectively negotiating and finding a balance between the "local, political, economic, and religious contexts that generate different accountability demands" (p. 33) and not ignoring these needs. Principals must discover ways that will enable them to balance the competing accountability expectations that exist in their schools. This may be achieved by learning about the local school community (Pollock & Winton, 2015), which is of particular importance in Ontario where ethnic and religious diversity are both acknowledged and celebrated. The reality of public education also necessitates that circumstances surrounding socioeconomic status be addressed and prioritized.

Prioritize expectations. Each of the three principals in the Pollock and Winton (2015) study were able to successfully prioritize the accountability expectations that mattered to their

respective school communities by listening, being flexible in their approach, and acting according to identified needs. While each principal recognized that performance-based accountability was a main focus of the Ontario government, and it was their responsibility to ensure efforts were being made to improve achievement on EQAO testing, they also were able to meet the other needs that existed within their schools. The issue of prioritizing expectations can be illustrated through the example of Wanda from the Pollock and Winton (2015) study, who, when arriving at a new school, was faced with a student discipline problem, frustrated teachers, and the expectation of fulfilling bureaucratic and legal accountability expectations. To address this situation, she introduced two complimentary programs that fulfilled the requirements of the School Improvement Plan (SIP), which focuses on expectations surrounding student behavior, allowing teachers to focus on student learning, and the Teaching-Learning Critical Pathways (T-LCP) process, which supports teacher collaboration with a focus on identifying and addressing areas of student need (Pollock & Winton, 2015). By prioritizing the needs of the students and staff within her school and the bureaucratic processes assigned to principals, Wanda managed the competing accountability demands in her school.

Networking and brokering with outside agencies. The needs within schools frequently vary based on the community they are situated in, and as such there is not only one way to manage competing accountability expectations. Pollock and Winton's 2015 study highlighted the efforts of Allan, who was accountable both to the communities his school served and to the provincial government's focus on performance-based accountability by networking and brokering with other outside agencies to reduce stress on families brought on by unemployment, poverty, and student hunger. Recognizing that conditions in homes have a direct impact on student learning, Allan sought out community resources to support the needs of families in his

school community because he believed that "supporting parents and the larger community helped to improve students' success at school" (Pollock & Winton, p. 27). In this instance, Allan prioritized moral accountability in order to focus on performance-based accountability; he did so by improving student circumstances that were impeding their academic success.

Connecting expectations. Pollock and Winton's study (2015) also shared the efforts of Dan, a principal from Ontario's publicly-funded Catholic education system, who balanced his school accountability expectations by first connecting expectations and then ensuring that classroom activities served more than one purpose. He believed that he was accountable to uphold the expectations of performance-based accountability in his school and also to the teachings of the Catholic church. In order to manage these accountabilities, he connected the development of faith formation with student achievement; he suggested that it was an expectation of students in the Catholic faith to be the best they could be, and this also meant being as academically successful as possible. Dan's school successfully managed the competing tensions of the different accountabilities by combining priorities, which included using the Bible as a text to be used during literacy instruction. (Pollock & Winton, 2015). Thus, by combining or complementing priorities, or in some cases balancing coexisting accountability expectations in an effort to improve schooling for students, principals are able to manage multiple accountability expectations.

In order to meet the needs of their schools and manage accountability expectations, principals may also look to the "human" resources within their schools and seek support from knowledgeable teaching and support staff. To bring this shared effort to fruition, providing adequate professional development through instructional leadership for their staff (Fullan, 2007) is vital.

Concept of Work

The basis of my study is focused on accountability through principals' work. Work is fundamental to the lives of people in industrialized countries (England & Musimi, 1986; Mannhein, 1993) and certain scholars have discovered that it is considered second only to family in terms of importance (Harpaz, 1999; Harpaz & Fu, 2002). Pollock and Hauseman (2015) define principals' work to be "the practices and actions in which principals engage to fulfill responsibilities as school principals" (p. 2). As the school leader, principals must navigate between all stakeholders in education and find a balance between policy expectations and their own sense of accountability within their work context. The stakeholders to whom principals feel most accountable, include: students, staff, the parent community, their supervisory officers and school board, and the Ministry of Education. Principals' work is multifaceted and complex given that much of their accountability-based work competes and overlaps. (Pollock & Hauseman, 2015). The work of Ontario's elementary school principals is changing, and my study attempted to gain a more thorough understand of how principals manage the competing accountability expectations in their work.

Conceptual Framework

Conceptual frameworks are integral to qualitative research studies as they outline "the research process in terms of identification of relevant concepts/constructs, definition of key variables, specific questions to be investigated," (Schultz, 1988, p. 34) and focuses the study from the beginning to the end. Within a conceptual framework, each concept represented is significant, and when combined, "lays out the key factors, constructs, or variables, and presumes relationships among them" (Miles & Huberman, 1994, p. 440). Thus, a conceptual framework is created to interpret a phenomenon.

The conceptual framework for my study explores the seven forms of accountability that comprise and influence principals' work, as well as the notion of work itself. It also is designed to show how the participants from my study viewed each accountability system. For instance, all participants recognized that it was imperative to uphold the mandated government policies (bureaucratic accountability), as well as the emphasis placed onto performance-based accountability. While each participant valued these accountabilities differently and individually may not have agreed with all aspects of each form, there was consensus that, as principals, they are part of the system and ultimately their responsibility is to oversee and enact. Similarly, there was also agreement that these forms of accountability comprised the majority of their time during their work day. In Figure 1 on page 42, the centre section contains five bubbles, with four of them connected. The top bubble represents moral accountability, which reflects the needs of the community. It includes a focus on social justice and is consistently a priority for principals. Within the Ontario context, there is room for other accountability systems to become a focus and combine with the mandated performance-based and bureaucratic accountability requirements. This is important, for as Firestone and Shipps (2005) assert, some principals feel pressure to neglect what they personally value and believe is in the best interest of the school community, as a result of how some accountability systems are designed.

My conceptual framework also depicts the experience of elementary school principals as they simultaneously manage multiple forms of accountability to fulfill the requirements of their work. Principals' work in Ontario continues to be an underresearched area; this should be rectified, given the expectations of the job are increasing and the needs within society require the prioritization of multiple accountability systems. In schools today, principals are pressured to ensure their schools are inclusive and providing opportunities for all students, performing at or

above the provincial standard on large-scale assessments, adhering to the many policy expectations that come from the Ministry of Education and initiatives from the board, ensuring professional accountability is upheld within the school, and that all legal and professional accountabilities are maintained. Principals' work is accountability-based and attempting to manage the expectations from each of the seven forms necessitates that principals engage in strategic planning, utilize available supports, and consider other available strategies to create school environments that focus on the diverse needs of 21st century schools.

Figure 1 depicts the seven forms of accountability that elementary school principals manage in their work. It has been generally understood that principals have "juggled conflicting accountabilities" (Firestone & Shipps, 2005, p. 81) in their work for quite some time. Until recently, however, there was minimal research on this topic, which Firestone and Shipps deemed to be "critical" (p. 81). Pollock and Winton (2015) explored this aspect of educational leadership by conducting case study research to uncover how principals "manage the tensions of accountability in their attempt to mediate the multiple competing accountability approaches present in their work" (p. 3). My research attempts to build on the work of Pollock and Winton (2015) and further uncover the challenges elementary principals face, as well as the strategies principals employ to manage the competing accountabilities.

Principals are ultimately responsibility for everything that happens within their schools, and it is for this reason that principals' work comprises the outside ring of my conceptual framework. Given that Ontario's system of education is performance-based (Pollock &Winton, 2015), it comprises the next ring, which envelopes the other forms of accountability represented in the framework. The profound influence of bureaucratic accountability is similarly significant, as Ontario principals are required to implement and supervise mandated government policies and

initiatives received through their respective school boards. Thus, the outside rings represent the legislative control held by Ontario's Ministry of Education, and collectively represent the nonnegotiable forms of accountability.

The middle ring represents the other forms of accountability for which principals are also responsible. Principals must ensure that all staff members from various union affiliations uphold the government mandates and levels of professional and legal accountability. The onus is on principals to ensure that the teachers in their schools work within that the standards of practice outlined by the OCT.

Although Ontario principals are influenced by the decisions made by trustees, they experience less political influence than their American counterparts. As a result, I have positioned political accountability at the bottom of the four accountability bubbles. Market accountability exists in Ontario, but it does not impact the day-to-day working experiences of Ontario's elementary school principals. Instead, market accountability appears to influence public perception of schools through the eyes of prospective parents who may want their child to attend a certain school, and real estate agents who use EQAO data to make certain properties more appealing to buyers. Thus, the market accountability bubble is disconnected from the other forms of accountability, but remains within the realm of principals' accountability.

Performance-based Accountability

Bureaucratic Accountability

Moral Accountability

Legal Accountability

Professional Accountability

Political Accountability

Market Accountability

Figure 1: Conceptual Framework for How Elementary School Principals Understand and Manage Accountability Expectations

Chapter Summary

This chapter highlighted the different forms accountability that exist in Ontario's system of education. Recognizing that Ontario has an education system that emphasizes performance-based accountability (Pollock & Winton, 2015) but does not enforce punitive consequences for substandard performance, principals are also able to prioritize other significant forms of accountability that address identified needs within their school communities. Principals can successfully manage competing accountabilities by negotiating and prioritizing the expectations that exist within their schools, networking with outside agencies to manage the accountabilities,

and/or by combining and balancing coexisting accountability expectations to improve schooling for students.

In the following section, I examine and explain the details surrounding the methodology of this study.

Chapter 3: Methodology

I employed an interpretive, qualitative study approach to answer my research question and research subquestions. I recruited participants for this study from two large urban Ontario public school boards through purposeful snowball sampling. In total, 12 elementary principals provided consent to participate in the approximately 60-minute semistructured interviews. In this chapter, I outline my research methodology, how I analyzed and interpreted the data, and how I maintained trustworthiness throughout the study.

Interpretive Approach

The design and focus of my study aligned with a qualitative, interpretive approach to research. An interpretivist approach seeks to discover findings that emerge through naturalistic methods (Merriam, 2009). To obtain data for my study, I conducted semistructured interviews that captured the participants' perspectives. Given that "different people construct meaning in different ways, even in relation to the same phenomenon" (Crotty, 1998, p. 9) there is no single correct way to view a situation. Thus, I conducted this research through a constructivist lens, as each participant may have potentially viewed similar circumstances differently based on their own perception (Crotty, 1998). By focusing on the perspectives of my participants, I intended to gain a deeper understanding of how elementary principals manage multiple accountability expectations in their work.

Qualitative Research

It is the goal of qualitative researchers to determine how people understand their own experiences and the meaning they attach to these experiences. In qualitative research, the researcher is the primary instrument for the data collection, data analysis, and interpretation (Creswell, 2014). According to Merriam (2009), "Qualitative researchers are interested in

understanding how people interpret their experiences, how they construct their worlds, and what meaning they attribute to their experiences" (p. 5). Using a qualitative approach, researchers are able to make needed changes to their research based on their findings (Merriam, 2009; Creswell, 2014). This was the case with my study, as I needed to revisit my initial plan based on participant responses. For this reason, conducting individual semistructured interviews with each participant was most appropriate for my research goal, as it allowed me to identify common themes as they emerged. As such, I did not consider using focus groups for this research, as they would not have provided individual perspectives (Gay, Mills, & Airasian, 2012). Similarly, case study research was not applicable for my study because it tends to focus on one specific unit—for instance, the perspective of one teacher, a single classroom, or a separate school site (Patton, 2015). It was critical to my research that I acquired rich and detailed data from my participants, as it would lead to a more thorough understanding of how Ontario principals currently manage multiple accountability systems in their work (Patton, 2015; Merriam, 2009). I conducted several more interviews after reaching data saturation (Merriam, 2009) to confirm my findings and ensure that new themes did not emerge.

Semistructured Interviews

The semistructured interviews were not meant to be evaluative or to test a hypothesis; rather, I used them to gain a better understanding of the principals' experiences and the meanings they construct therein. Merriam (2009) describes this process as being "inductive, that is, researchers gather data to build concepts, hypotheses, or theories" (p. 15). Semistructured interviews provide opportunities for participants to respond to researchers' questions by describing their experiences. My interview protocol consisted of prepared open questions and previously conceived probes to gain further information, supplemented by questions that

naturally arose during the interview process (Gay et al., 2012). Semistructured interviews provide researchers with greater flexibility: Researchers may ask follow-up questions of the participants for the purpose of clarification and thereby create opportunities to further probe participant experiences (Seidman, 2013). I conducted interviews that were approximately 45-60 minutes in length at mutually agreeable locations, for it was important that the participants felt comfortable and not inconvenienced. It is critical for researchers to thoroughly understand their topics, because they need to effectively plan and structure questions that will ideally bring forward beliefs and experiences of participants that may not immediately surface during the initial interview questions.

Researchers must be flexible and adjust their questioning based on "the emerging worldview of the respondent" (Merriam, 2009, p. 90). Consequently, I considered face-to-face interviews to be the most appropriate data collection method for this study, because these interviews aim to help researchers "understand the experiences of other people and the meaning they make of that experience" (Seidman, 2013, p. 3). My interviews included both highly and loosely structured questions that provided the participants with opportunities to share their responses based on personal experiences. The structured section of the interview consisted of a set of questions geared toward obtaining specific information about how participants understand and manage accountability expectations. For instance, each principal was asked: "How do you understand accountability in your work?" Each participant was given time to consider their response to each question, and during those moments I took notes about my observations, as well as recording the questions that had arisen from previous responses (Patton, 2015).

I investigated other areas of my research question by drawing from a list of topics that aligned with the direction of the interview, and presented them to the participant in no specific

order. During the process, I avoided multiple and/or leading questions, as well as questions that required a yes or no response; the latter would not have elicited rich and detailed responses that could have informed my research (Seidman, 2013).

Participants

The participants for this study consisted of Ontario elementary public school principals with a minimum of five years of experience working as a principal. At the time of the interviews, each principal had worked at their current location for a minimum of one school year. This criterion is important because it ensured the principals were familiar with their schools and could speak to the nature of any potential challenges and effective supports regarding accountability. I purposefully excluded principals with less than five years of experience from the study. One limitation of my study is that all of the principals worked in large, urban school boards where there were notably larger, more diverse school populations than may be found in suburban or rural areas. I also did not include secondary principals in my study because the contexts and experiences of principals from different panels are notably different (Firestone, Herriot, & Wilson, 1984).

In any study, participant willingness to answer researchers' questions truthfully presents a potential limitation. Inaccurate senses of awareness regarding what is actually happening in their schools, limited ability to recall specific details, and the subjective nature of participant perceptions can also potentially present limitations. Similarly, participants might decide to alter their true feelings in order to appear differently to the researcher. Flessa (2012) shared a similar concern while conducting research, as he believed there was a "risk that principals' responses might echo the prevailing 'party line'" (p. 331) of their school board. As board representatives of

their respective schools, principals could potentially feel obligated to respond more positively to interview questions than they actually feel.

I have included a brief description of each participant below to provide background information about their years of experience in education. I have given each participant a pseudonym to ensure their identities remain anonymous.

Principal Rose. Rose has been working in education for a total of 18 years. She entered administration after 10 years of teaching and spent two years as a vice-principal before becoming a principal. Rose has been a principal in an urban Ontario school board for the last six years.

Principal Read. Read has been working in education for a total of 22 years. He taught for seven years before taking a central position at a school board as the Head of Physical and Health Education for four years. Read then spent two years as a vice-principal and has been a principal for the last nine years in an Ontario urban school board.

Principal Dylan. Dylan has been working in education for a total of 19 years. He entered administration after eight years of teaching and was a vice-principal for three years before becoming a principal. He has been a principal in an urban Ontario school board for the last eight years.

Principal Stuart. Stuart has been working in education for a total of 17 years. He entered administration after seven years of teaching and was a vice-principal for two years before becoming a principal. He has been a principal in an urban Ontario school board for eight years.

Principal Tracey. Tracey has been working in education in various capacities for over 23 years. She was a vice-principal for two years before becoming a principal. She has been a principal in an urban Ontario school board for the last 14 years.

Principal Deserae. Deserae has been working in education for a total of 23 years. She entered administration after six years of teaching and was a vice-principal for four years before becoming a principal. She has been a principal in an urban Ontario school board for the last 13 years.

Principal Suzanne. Suzanne has been working in education for a total of 25 years. She entered administration after 12 years of teaching and was a vice-principal for five years before becoming a principal. She has been a principal in an urban Ontario school board for the last eight years.

Principal Clare. Clare has been working in education for a total of 27 years. She entered administration after teaching for 12 years. Clare has had two secondments to the Ministry of Education and returned to working in schools after each contract ended. She was a vice-principal for three years before becoming a principal. She has been a principal in an urban Ontario school board for the last eight years.

Principal Henry. Henry has been working in education for a total of 22 years. He entered administration after nine years of teaching and was a vice-principal for three years before becoming a principal. He has been a principal in an urban Ontario school board for the last 10 years.

Principal Max. Max has been working in education for a total of 17 years. He entered administration after six years of teaching and was a vice-principal for three years before becoming a principal. He has been a principal in an urban Ontario school board for the last eight years.

Principal Chris. Chris has been working in education for a total of 22 years. He entered administration after six years of teaching, then spent one year working as a consultant with a

school board. He was then promoted to become a vice-principal and spent three years in that role before becoming a principal. He has been a principal in an urban Ontario school board for the last 12 years.

Principal Jennifer. Jennifer has been working in education for a total of 25 years. She entered administration after eight years of teaching and was a vice-principal for two years before becoming a principal. She has been a principal in an urban Ontario school board for the last 15 years.

Sample Size

Sample size is determined based on the nature of a research study and by approximating what is necessary to answer the research question (Merriam, 2009). For this study, I intended to conduct up to 25 semistructured interviews, or until I reached saturation. Saturation is the point where no new information is emerging from the interviews (Merriam, 2009; Padgett, 1998). I reached saturation during the seventh interview of my study, but continued with the rest of the scheduled interviews to ensure that different themes did not emerge. Once I completed my data analysis, my thesis advisor recommended conducting two more interviews to confirm my findings and ensure that no new themes emerged.

Recruitment

After receiving approval from the Research Ethics Board from Western University at the beginning of summer 2015, I began the process of acquiring participants. In the early stages of recruitment, I hoped that Dr. Joanne Robinson, Director of Professional Learning for the Ontario Principals' Council (OPC) would be part of my recruitment strategy. Through consultation with my thesis advisor, Dr. Robinson kindly agreed to include an advertisement announcing that I was seeking participants for my study in the weekly e-bulletin sent to all Ontario principals.

Unfortunately, this process did not garner any participants for my study, likely due to the ongoing teachers' job action that interrupted the first few months of school starting in September 2015.

As a result, I obtained all of the participants for this study through snowball sampling (Merriam, 2009) from my first interview. The first participant was a principal whom I had known for many years from serving on various committees. This principle recognized that members of my doctoral cohort were struggling to obtain participants, and kindly connected with other principal colleagues who lived and worked in the Toronto area and were willing to participate.

Once these principals made initial contact through email, I sent a return email outlining the nature of my study. During the email correspondence and telephone conversations that followed, I answered any questions and reiterated the details surrounding my study. I also explained that a condition for participation was their willingness to have the interviews recorded and turned into verbatim transcripts. Each participant agreed once I explained that turning the interviews into transcripts would allow me to thoroughly analyze the data while also remaining focused on their responses during the interview. I also emphasized my commitment to ensuring anonymity and explained that their data would be stored in a secure file in a locked filing cabinet under a numerical code. After ensuring that the inclusion criteria had been met, the participants provided times of availability and we determined a mutually agreeable interview time and place. When the potential participants arrived at the interview, I asked them to read the letter of information and if they required any further clarification. Once I had answered all of their questions and the participants felt comfortable with how the process would unfold, I then asked them to sign the informed consent documentation. I interviewed 12 participants between August

2015 and February 2016.

Data Analysis

According to Yin (2011), it is imperative for researchers to possess five attributes prior to commencing the data gathering process: (a) the ability to question, (b) strong listening skills, (c) adaptability, (d) a solid understanding of the issues, and (e) a lack of bias. To ensure I met these criteria, my thesis advisor and I engaged in a mock interview; based on her feedback for future improvement, I participated in another pilot interview with a colleague from my doctoral cohort prior to commencing the formal interviews.

Stake (2006) emphasizes the importance of determining a detailed strategy for data analysis process prior to collection. This is significant because, as Strauss and Corbin (1998) suggest, data analysis actually starts during the data collection process. Throughout the interviewing process, I engaged in ongoing comparative analysis by double-checking for themes and returning to previously recorded transcripts to identify connections between participant responses (Merriam, 2009). As part of this approach, I worked to make sense of the data (Gay et al., 2012) and continuously refined categories as they emerged (Heck, 2004).

Within hours of completing each interview, I transcribed the data into Microsoft Word documents and I listened to the recordings again along with the transcribed versions to guarantee accuracy. To further ensure reliability, I also reviewed my research notes promptly following the interviews to capture the nuances of each participants' body language and other physical reactions and responses they had to my line of questioning. In fact, these notes have ensured that certain aspects of the interview have not been lost in the transcription process; they have also helped create rich descriptions of the findings for further analysis.

Each of the approximately 60-minute interviews took over four hours to transcribe and

typically resulted in over 17 pages of text. With the exception of one interview that occurred over Google Hangouts, I conducted all interviews in person and at each principals' respective school office.

Once I completed the transcribing process for all of the interviews, I read each interview transcript several more times to identify any additional themes and made notes in the margins of the transcript pages for future reference (Gay, et al., 2012). I then emailed the transcripts back to each respective participant for the purpose of *member checking* (Merriam, 2009), to ensure accuracy and allow for any changes to be made through either additions or deletions (Patton, 2015; Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Seidman, 2013). Member checking assures the credibility of the findings with the participants and requires that the researcher return a copy of the transcript from the interview to the participant to confirm the accuracy of the transcribed interview (Seidman, 2012). This process seeks to prevent misinterpretations by the researcher and ensure that the true experiences and beliefs of the participants are conveyed in the findings (Seidman, 2013). During this process, only one participant requested a minor change: that a potentially identifying street name be removed or changed to a pseudonym.

For organizational purposes, I turned the identified themes into separate codes with distinct names. I then highlighted emergent themes, both in relation to commonalities and also what was unique (Gay et al., 2012). I paid particular attention to thoroughly understanding the common experiences, as well as the unique ways that principals experienced changes in their work that resulted from multiple accountability systems.

Since data can be interpreted in a multitude of ways (Auerbach & Silverstein, 2003), when I completed all of the interviews, I analyzed them again. At this point, I removed the initial codes and moved the data into categories and subcategories (Lichtman, 2010) based on how the

principals managed multiple accountability systems and the challenges and supports they identified. As principals began to identify the strategies they employ in their work, I took additional notes regarding subthemes. I read every transcript numerous times with an openness toward any theme that might have emerged.

Throughout this process, I used different coloured highlighters to identify sections of data that supported each emerging theme. Once I had a solid set of themes established from all 12 interviews, I then compared these themes to my conceptual framework. Throughout this process, I remained in close contact with my critical friends, professors, and thesis advisor. Their input was invaluable as I worked through the data analysis process and focused on remaining reflexive in my approach. As part of my commitment to the research process, I maintained a research journal (Merriam, 2009), where I made note of any particular bias I might have recognized, my reflections on the comfort level of the participants, personal observations regarding my developing interview skills, and different probing questions I might consider using in subsequent interviews.

Thematic Analysis

Thematic analysis was the most appropriate method of data analysis for my study because it provided an effective strategy for interpreting and building a narrative from the subjective experiences of the participants (Crowe, Inder, & Porter, 2015). According to Crow, Inder, and Porter (2015), thematic analysis may be defined as "a process of interpretation of qualitative data in order to find patterns of meaning across the data" (p. 617). Researchers often use thematic analysis because it assists with "identifying, analyzing, and reporting patterns (themes) within data" (Braun & Clarke, 2006, p. 79). Accordingly, the researcher is required to build narratives by identifying these themes. Thus, it is advantageous in qualitative research

because it is flexible for researchers and garners detailed and complex data (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

Researchers play an active role when identifying themes. While the findings exist within the transcripts of our interviews, it is our thinking about the data that creates the connections (Braun & Clarke, 2006). When conducting thematic analysis, the researcher must become familiar with the data by reading the interview transcripts multiple times. Once researchers are knowledgeable about the information in the transcripts, they create some initial codes. It is imperative that the research question remains at the core of this process and that each code provides insight into the participants' experiences. After I created my codes, I identified themes by merging together the codes that were similar in nature. Once identified, I carefully refined the themes to ensure that they addressed the information I took from the codes; I then defined and clearly described each theme. I connected each theme to various sections from within the transcripts and attached specific quotations that highlighted the core of the themes. Once I constructed the themes, I started to write narratives based on each participant and their experiences.

Trustworthiness

Qualitative research that uses an interpretivist model requires four elements that combine to ensure trustworthiness: credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Denzin & Lincoln, 1994; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). The trustworthiness of research is highly dependent on the integrity of the researcher (Merriam, 2009). Thus, it is the responsibility of each researcher to be reflective of what biases they bring into the research setting and to make a concerted effort to remain reflexive.

Credibility. It is imperative to assure credibility in the research in order to guarantee the accuracy of the findings from the study. Member checking the transcripts of interviews provides a safeguard to ensure the data has not been misinterpreted and thus ensures that the research remains credible (Morrow, 2005). Researcher reflexivity is also important to ensure personal beliefs are not incorporated into the analysis of the data. Accordingly, I maintained a self-reflective journal throughout the process and recorded any assumptions and biases I discovered (Morrow, 2005). I engaged in ongoing dialogue and sought guidance from critical friends to ensure objectivity (Morrow, 2005).

Transferability. Interpretation plays an important role in interpretivist research. A more thorough understanding of how principals understand and manage accountability in their work can be constructed from analysis of the compiled data. It is also important for the reader to have adequate information about the research process in order to have a better understanding of whether the findings are transferable to other circumstances (Morrow, 2005).

Dependability. The methods for conducting a research study must be well documented to ensure that another researcher can replicate the study by following the initial researchers' process. Thus, it is essential that researchers maintain detailed notes about how they have undertaken their methodological process. From the beginning, I have maintained copious, detailed notes regarding the nuances of the process.

Confirmability. It is crucial that researchers remain unbiased and ensure that the study outcomes reflect the actual circumstances from the research and not the researchers' own personal beliefs. By engaging in member checking and working closely with my critical friends, I have focused intently on maintaining objectivity and accurately reporting the findings from my study.

Ethical Considerations

The Research Ethics Board of the University of Western Ontario granted approval prior to the commencement of my research study. Due to the nature of this research, I did not use the tactic of deception and there were no expected physical or mental risks of harm to the participants (Patton, 2015). Each of my participants signed the letters of informed consent and agreed to being recorded during the interviews. Prior to the beginning of each official interview, I clarified the nature of the study with the participant and provided assurance regarding the confidentiality measures being taken throughout the process. It is the responsibility of the researcher to thoroughly explain the measures in place to ensure confidentiality, for instance: the proper storage of all recorded data, interview transcripts, researcher notes, as well as the master list of participants with assigned codes. These sensitive documents will remain locked securely away in separate filing cabinets for the mandatory five-year period, as per the Western University's Guidelines for Non-Medical Research.

I reminded participants that they had the option to not answer any question that made them feel uncomfortable and were free to withdraw from the study at any time. I assigned pseudonyms to each participant to ensure anonymity and altered any potentially identifiable information.

I also gave the participants the opportunity to read through the transcripts and make any changes they deemed necessary to ensure accuracy within the data and to ensure that their identities would remain securely anonymous.

Chapter Summary

In this chapter, I have outlined my methodological approach for conducting this research.

My thesis advisor and I determined, based on my area of research, that an interpretive qualitative

study using semistructured interviews would be the most appropriate method for data collection.

I also described my data collection and data analysis processes, the ethical considerations to which I have adhered, as well as the methodological limitations of this study. In the next chapter, I will present my findings.

Chapter 4: Findings—Multiple Accountability Expectations and the Influence on Principals' Work

This chapter presents the findings from my research subquestions that collectively answer my main research question: How are multiple accountability expectations influencing principals' work? The findings from the data present the perspectives of the interviewed elementary principals. The subquestions addressed in this chapter are: (a) How do elementary school principals understand accountability in their work? (b) What strategies do elementary principals use to meet accountability expectations? (c) What challenges do elementary principals face attempting to meet accountability expectations? (d) What supports need to be in place for principals to meet work-place accountability expectations?

The first section of this chapter discusses the seven types of accountability the participants in my study referenced as being the most relevant to their work as Ontario elementary school principals: bureaucratic, performance-based, professional, professional, legal, moral, and market accountability. The second section presents the strategies principals use to meet accountability expectations. The third section outlines the challenges they face, and the fourth section reveals the supports that principals find most useful when managing the accountability expectations that comprise their work. Within each section, I present the subthemes that emerged, which highlight the perspectives of the principals from my study.

Elementary Principals' Understanding of Accountability

According to the principals in my study, accountability is a fundamental element of their work. In fact, there was consensus among participants that principals are accountable for everything that happens in their schools. Jennifer shared how she perceives accountability as an elementary school principal:

As principal, I am always aware that in every moment of everyday someone is—for lack of a better term—evaluating me, because I am the person who makes the final decisions. And after every interaction I have with people, they leave with an impression from that interaction, be it a child, a staff member or a parent, or my supervisory officer, or my other principal colleagues. So, in whatever role I am in, I am constantly aware that I am accountable for my actions, decisions, and various interactions on a daily basis; to do it well, there are times when I need to switch gears quickly. In one moment, I'm dealing with budgets and bussing issues, and the next, bullying or an issue with a parent. While these actions are mine, I am also aware that I'm representing my school and the values and standards of the school, my school board, and the Ministry of Education in my words and actions.

Jennifer's role as principal makes her accountable for managing myriad situations that arise with the students, staff members, and the parent community at her school. She also feels accountable to her principal colleagues within the system and her supervisory officer, and knows that that her responses to various situations need to be reflective of the beliefs and the directions set by her employers, the school board, and Ministry of Education. Jennifer acknowledged that there are times when the multiple accountability systems compete for her attention and it is her responsibility to address each one to the best of her ability. Further, Jennifer conveyed that she is not always able to attend to each situation in ways and within timeframes that satisfy everyone: "Pleasing everyone every day isn't possible. There is a lot of pressure on principals that most people aren't even aware of from every direction." She emphasized the challenges principals face managing multiple forms of accountability, which creates ongoing difficulties—opinions regarding her effectiveness in her role are formed based on how she handles situations.

Jennifer feels a large amount of pressure in her job as elementary school principal. In her interview, she was cognizant that her decisions have repercussions for how people perceive her, as well as her employer, the school board, and Ministry of Education. Jennifer recognized the enormity of managing the different forms of accountability and referred to feeling pressure from constantly being judged based on the decisions she makes. For instance, when managing one

situation, someone else may be questioning why she is not prioritizing another situation. Jennifer feels bound by accountability because she is the person "who makes the final decisions" at the school level as the representative of the board. Jennifer recognized that she also needs to be able to tap into the realm of moral accountability and be available as a support for students and their families. Jennifer referenced being accountable to the values and standards of the school board and Ministry of Education. A significant part of this accountability is bureaucratic.

Bureaucratic accountability. Within the education system, bureaucratic accountability reflects procedures and policies that are established and enforced to ensure schools function according to specific guidelines (Darling-Hammond, 2004; Pollock & Winton, 2015). At the school level, it is most often the responsibility of the principal to ensure these mandates are followed and that schools remain in compliance (Normore, 2010; Pollock & Winton, 2015). The principals in my study reported feeling accountable to complete substantial amounts of policy-based work that must be managed within their school sites on a daily basis. Fulfilling these aspects of their work comprises a significant amount time, which often takes them away from other things they value. According to Pollock et al. (2014), Ontario principals spend approximately 59 hours per week working, with 47.5% of their workday spent in their offices. Stuart explained that principals' work is driven by legislated policies:

Very few professions now have their job description written in law. Educators do. In our case [principals], it is the Education Act. For instance, as a principal you are responsible under the Education Act, but as a supervisor you are also responsible under the Occupational Health and Safety Act, Privacy Act, Freedom of Information Act—you have so many things to consider because you're an education leader, a teacher, a supervisor on site; you are "in loco parentis," so the Family and Children's Services Act is relevant. There are very few professions where there is so much legislation that make you obligated to act in certain ways and there is no way in heck you are going to be able to do everything right and not screw up in some way...by not dotting that "I" or crossing that "T" in some way, shape, or form.

Stuart named some of the policies that make principals accountable through legally mandated forms of bureaucratic accountability. According to the Pollock et al. (2014) OPC study, principals' work has become so grounded in policies and procedures "that there is little room for principals to demonstrate professional judgment or autonomy in their daily work (p. 3). The OCT asserts that, in addition to the Education Act, principals must also have an understanding of at least 17 different pieces of legislation (OCT, 2009; Pollock & Hauseman, 2015). Further to this, Ontario principals are accountable to uphold Ministry of Education strategies and initiatives, which include: Growing Success: Assessment, Evaluation, and Reporting in Ontario Schools; the Equity and Inclusive Education Strategy; Parents in Partnership: Parent Engagement Policy; the Aboriginal Education Strategy/First Nations, Metis, and Inuit Policy Framework; Reporting in Ontario Schools; the Ontario Curriculum; and the Ontario Leadership Strategy (Pollock et al., 2014).

Stuart emphasized that it is almost impossible to avoid making mistakes by omission as a result of the many different layers of accountability principals face—for example, the increasing volume of paperwork that accompanies policy-based work through documentation. In addition, many of these policies involve specific training for both principals and all teaching staff members in order to meet requirements set out by the boards, which are referred to as compliance-based training expectations.

Compliance training. Henry shared that many policy expectations require compliance-based training and principals are mandated by the board to ensure their staff members receive and successfully complete the necessary training sessions:

There has been more directed professional development in recent years. The board drilled down on what was needed—more focus on policy and procedure. There is a lot of accountability there in terms of who has done their Asbestos training and WHMIS [Workplace Hazardous Materials Information System] training, the Duty to Report

training that connects to the Children's Aid Society, and Sabrina's Law. In fact, there are two more laws coming down the pipes focusing on concussions and asthma. It [the board] has become a lot more compliance-oriented and ensuring that we [principals] are following procedures.

Henry described many of the accountability policies as compliance-based. These requirements ensure staff receive training for various sets of procedures that protect schools and the board from legal implications should someone become injured. Henry implied that it is essential for principals to ensure the fulfillment of mandatory compliance training and that he is expected to follow the rules imposed by the board. The drive for compliance stems from a focus on ensuring uniform knowledge among all employees regarding the standards and expectations (OECD, 2000) prioritized by the board. As such, the TDSB initiated a series of online compliance training for all staff to complete, which focuses on new and existing policies. These include: Dealing with Abuse and Neglect of Students (PR 560); WHMIS, Mental Health & Well-Being; Anaphylaxis in Schools; Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act; Workplace Violence General Awareness; and Asbestos Awareness Level 1. The implementation of these compliance training sessions is a component of the TDSB's Years of Action Plan: 2013-2017, which includes a significant focus on occupational health and safety.

Occupational health and safety. According to the participants, one of the most highly focused-upon areas of bureaucratic accountability is health and safety. Dylan indicated that the board sends more correspondence to principals about issues of health and safety than improving student performance:

Some days it [time spent managing accountability systems] is huge and other days it is less so...but what I do know is that it is increasing. So, as much as I want to get out of here [the school office] and get into the classrooms and do other things, I know I have to do this [bureaucratic accountability-based work] because if I don't, and that requirement is not met, I could be in trouble that way. Making sure that my health and safety board is up, I have my staff trained, and I account for what training and when they were trained is

critical because if I have a labour inspector come in, I need to be able to prove that it has been done on the spot. If not, I could be held under the Health and Safety Act.

Dylan is held more accountable for meeting health and safety requirements in the school than he is for improving student academic performance. He explained that the board's emphasis on bureaucratic accountability makes him feel more like a manager of the school site than an educator working with the team to improve student learning outcomes. However, Dylan acknowledged that not prioritizing health and safety requirements within his school could render him in violation of the Health and Safety Act, which could potentially result in formal discipline.

To comply with the Health and Safety Act, there are numerous layers of regulations that must be upheld in order to ensure schools are hazard-free. Max highlighted the significance of maintaining the school and remaining in accordance with health and safety regulations, as well as the amount of time it takes to ensure compliance:

The health and safety inspections come four times per year and I have to log on and sign off on the recommendations that have been rectified. I need to ensure that the building is safe. There are too many days where the majority of my time goes to dealing with health and safety. I have to sign off that I have spoken to someone about the extension cord being on the floor, or I have told the caretaker that he or she must change a ballast or whatever it is. So, a screw loose on the playground becomes my issue and I become accountable for it and have to sign off on it. At the end of the day, if the issue is significant enough, the Health and Safety Department can shut our doors and the school won't open until the issue is fixed.

Max described the importance of adhering to all health and safety procedures and rectifying any issues in a timely manner. Principals are accountable for ensuring their school sites are prepared for health and safety inspections because the severity of the infraction could potentially result in a temporary school closure. This includes making sure all equipment and structures both within the school and outside on school property are maintained and functioning as intended. Max stated that overseeing this aspect of his work is quite time-consuming between identifying the

issues, following-up to confirm the matter has been corrected, and completing the paperwork that documents the necessary processes that have been followed.

Paperwork. A common theme throughout the interviews was the amount of time-consuming, accountability-based paper work principals must complete for processes that extend beyond teaching, learning, and student achievement. Tracey explained that board policies outlining how principals must handle petty cash for office supplies far exceeds the accountability expectations that are placed on improving student outcomes:

There are more safe-guards, there is more paperwork, and checks and balances on the \$6.50 that I spend on stamps than there are on how my students are doing in their Grade 2/3 class. There are definitely more checks on my submissions of budget forms or petty cash forms, or if I don't submit space evaluations or optional attendance forms. There is more follow-up in regard to that than in regard to if my students aren't moving from level 2 to 3, or I have more kids getting Ns on their learning skills or performing with difficulty.

Tracey's experience with heightened accountability procedures for all monetary purchases, even office petty cash, has become a time-consuming process. According to Tracey, the paperwork that follows purchasing office supply items is subject to more scrutiny than a decline in student academic performance. Suzanne agreed that there are more accountability measures in place surrounding school finances and student enrollment than there are for student performance, specific interventions to support student learning, and instructional leadership. Sharing a similar experience, Jennifer conveyed that the amount of paperwork required for nonacademic components of the school day has become far more extensive:

Every cent that is spent must be accounted for. Sometimes it is too much hassle to bother with the paperwork and I just use my own money to buy the things we need in the office, or if a student forgot their lunch and we can't get in touch with a parent. It isn't a big deal, but it is frustrating that there are so many hoops to jump through.

The bureaucratic framework that exists in schools provides strict guidelines and procedures for how purchasing and the spending of any school funds occurs. Navigating this system of accountability is time-consuming and as Tracey, Suzanne, and Jennifer indicated, it creates a conflict between what principals believe should be the main focus in schools and where they are mandated to focus their attention. Just as principals are accountable to follow the procedures for handling monetary funds and purchasing, they are also accountable for the performance of both teachers and students through performance-based accountability.

Performance-based accountability. Within the education system, performance-based accountability is used to enact and monitor change (Darling-Hammond, 2004; Pollock & Winton, 2015). All of the principals who participated in my study acknowledged the focus that the Ontario government has placed on performance-based accountability as a method for providing data on student achievement and accountability for teachers' performance. During each interview, the principals identified the performance accountability measures for full-time contract teachers (through the Teacher Performance Appraisal [TPA] and New Teacher Induction Program [NTIP] processes) and for students (through the annual EQAO large-scale assessment) as significant aspects of their work.

Teacher performance appraisal. The TPA process is intended to provide experienced teachers with feedback that will promote additional professional learning and support, as necessary (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2010). This system is one of the more well-known accountability-based responsibilities that principals conduct within schools. The TPA process is also revered by certain sectors of the public, as it is generally believed to assure quality teaching and learning is occurring in the public school system (EQAO, 2013). Principals adhere to legislative requirements and Ministry of Education guidelines, as well as other board-specific requirements, when conducting TPAs on their teaching staff members (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2010).

Experienced Teachers. Once every five years, teachers who have full-time contracts and more than two years of experience are evaluated on the 16 competencies that align with the five domains of the OCT's Standards of Practice for the Teaching Profession. However, should a principal deem the performance of a teacher to be questionable, they may choose to conduct additional appraisals. Similarly, should an unsatisfactory rating be given to a teacher during their TPA, it is the responsibility of the principal to provide the needed support and a second TPA would be conducted at a time designated by the principal (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2010).

New Teachers. Teachers who have full-time contracts with their school board but less than two full years of successful teaching experience are evaluated through NTIP. This process occurs twice yearly during their first two years of teaching and successful completion of these appraisals is a mandatory requirement for becoming a permanent full-time teacher.

Chris referred to the TPA and NTIP processes as: "an extremely time-consuming accountability requirement that only gives a snap-shot of true performance and is not always representative of what happens in classrooms day-to-day." Suzanne added:

The processes involve several meetings with the teacher being assessed before the classroom observation where the specific competencies being addressed are selected, and then a follow-up meeting is organized to debrief before the final report is sent to the board.

Suzanne shared a similar view to Chris in that she perceives the process to be "basically a formality, but not really indicative of teachers' regular performance because they know they are being evaluated and many throw out all of the stops to make the lesson being observed the best it can be." The other form of performance accountability that elementary principals are responsible for overseeing is the annual EQAO assessment for students in Grades 3 and 6.

Accountability for students through EQAO. The annual EQAO testing is the only large-scale, province-led assessment in Ontario. The participants in this study recognized the

importance the government and their respective school boards place on the results of the assessment, and each principal takes their role in facilitating the testing seriously. However, their respective viewpoints and experiences with EQAO were varied. For instance, Dylan argued that EQAO is "not a true indicator of actual student performance and achievement; instead, it gives a glimpse into each student on the day of the test." Similarly, Clare recognized there are many aspects to student performance accountability and views accountability in Ontario schools as being far more than just the annual EQAO assessment. She considers accountability for student learning as something that occurs daily in classrooms, more formally through report cards during the school year, and exists as the shared responsibility of the adults in the building:

What we have in Ontario is the large-scale performance-based accountability through EQAO, and then we also have our day-to-day performance-based accountability assessments that we gather; report cards are also a form of performance-based accountability. So, it really is looking at what the student is learning and how are they demonstrating that learning, and the adults are also accountable for that, too.

Clare described formal large-scale accountability and day-to-day accountability as part of what educators require to determine what students are learning. She indicated that providing these opportunities for students to demonstrate their learning on an ongoing basis is the responsibility of the education workers in the school and an element of good pedagogy. According to Clare, provincial report cards are also a form of performance accountability: It is a formal record distributed three times per year that indicates how students are performing on specific tasks and ultimately progressing through the curriculum.

How principals experience EQAO. The annual EQAO large-scale assessment is an important consideration for all Ontario principals. How principals experience the impact of EQAO appears to be largely determined by the emphasis placed on results by their supervisory officers. There was consensus among participants that some, but not all, supervisory officers

were willing to listen and remain open to justification from the school principal should a decline in results occur. Read, for example, can explain to his supervisory officer why his school's EQAO results rise or fall:

We are not in an American System, so if the scores don't go up, I can explain when they haven't. The goal was to have it [the scores] increase but then my English as a Second Language (ESL) population went up dramatically and you know, six of the kids were also in Home School Program (HSP). So, the larger conversation becomes understanding why the data is different this year and not a true representation of the class performance. If it was every year, it might be different and if the scores just kept dropping off, people would start to look more closely.

Read has the opportunity to engage in conversations following the release of EQAO results, and if necessary, to provide explanations for declining scores; he can promote better understanding by explaining the specifics from within the cohorts of students generating disappointing results.

Max also shared how he explained a decline in scores to his supervisory officer:

He [supervisory officer] wasn't happy. There is no question about it, but I pointed out that four out of 26 Grade 3s were in our Home School Program for 50% of their school day in a setting that has a reduced student to teacher ratio, because aspects of their learning that cannot be met in a regular class setting. So, what can be expected from the results, really? Should I have to explain this? I don't think so.

According to Max, when students have been formally identified as needing additional academic support—a small class placement and a modified academic program because they are not working at grade level—it should be expected that there will be a decrease in scores. Clare also described the need for justification as a source of frustration:

It actually doesn't make any sense. So, we recognize challenges students are having meeting the expectations of their age appropriate grade level and we modify their program, and provide extra support through a smaller class placement for 50% of their school day. Then, Grade 6 testing comes along and we expect a student who is working at Grade 2 or 3 level to write alongside his or her age appropriate peers and then I have to justify why my school scores dropped? It's ridiculous. Each cohort of students going through is different with less or more intense needs. Some years will go up and others down.

Clare described being asked to justify a decrease in scores when there are identified needs within a particular cohort of students as unreasonable. For students to be placed into a HSP program, they have documented needs that cannot be met in a typical classroom. Consequently, the expectation that students will be able to perform at Grade level on provincial tests is ambitious.

Not every principal felt as though they could easily justify a decline in EQAO results. For instance, Deserae explained:

EQAO testing results has become the be-all and the end-all for some superintendents and we [principals] need to make sure the scores go up and have a good explanation when they [students] don't make level three. It can be intimidating when you are asked to provide an explanation for every number.

Deserae feels intimidated when asked to account for each score and provide a rationale for each student who did not meet provincial standard. Jennifer shared a similar experience of having to justify EQAO results to a supervisory officer who did not understand what she described as "the clear limitations" of the data. Further, Jennifer emphasized that it is critical for supervisory officers, principals, teachers, the parent community, and society in general understand these limitations. Jennifer described an actual conversation with her supervisory officer where she attempted to show him that the data does not always provide an accurate picture:

With my old SO, he used to come—we had a small cohort—and he would say, "Jennifer, the scores are not going up!" and I seriously had the best teachers and I would say to him, "Bill, we had 50 kids in Grade 3 and 12 of them were new last year, that is over one-fifth, and out of that 12, nine of them are in the HSP and are identified or are going to be identified and of that group in Grade 2, we had eight more that were new and several requiring ESL support, so you have to understand all of those factors to see that those kids haven't been with us since Kindergarten. But when we pull out the ones who have been, even if they are getting special education support, they are improving. It was ongoing pressure for me because I didn't really feel he really understood.

Jennifer noted some of the many factors that can impact EQAO results, particularly when there is a small cohort of students. For instance: students moving into the neighbourhood and students who are receiving ESL or special education support. She expressed feeling pressure when her

supervisory officer did not understand that the data only provides a snap shot of the cohort without any explanations.

Professional accountability. Professional accountability in education requires the attainment of knowledge and specialized skills that allow for entry into the profession. Upon entry, the professional is then required to maintain the professional standards of practice (Darling-Hammond, 2004; Pollock & Winton, 2015). Dwivedi et al. (1989) recognized the importance of professionalism within the public sector and emphasized that professionals must "balance the code of their professions with the larger context of protecting the public interest" and that public interest "should determine a professional's responsibility and accountability" (p. 7). As public servants, educators are held accountable both by themselves and by others for their actions and decisions (Bivins, 2006).

For Jennifer, professional accountability is a reflection of herself and how she models and encourages leadership in her school. She recognized the responsibility elementary principals have for setting the tone for the school site and the importance of being viewed as an active member of the team by supporting the teachers on her staff in their work:

In general, I think the principal's role necessitates that you have to set an example of expectations, while being part of the team. You need to be at the table and you have to learn with the staff and be there as a partner. You set the direction based on what you learn from and with the staff, students, parents, and community.

Jennifer feels obligated to be accountable to all people within the school environment. She expressed a deep commitment to performing in a way that supports the needs of all adults and learners in the school.

During interviews, there were many instances where principals shared feeling conflicted by what they believed they should be doing versus what they were required to do as a result of bureaucratic accountability expectations, which is a part of their professional accountability. For instance, Henry described being forced to prioritize some aspects of his work, which he believes infringes on what he is accountable to perform:

It is busy and the paperwork is time-consuming and there are times when they take precedence over the other happenings in the school that I should focus on, like instructional leadership for my staff and being more present in the school.

Henry's statement addressed the competing forms of accountability that principals must navigate in their work. While Henry feels he should be providing instructional leadership to his staff to improve classroom instruction, he is bound by another form of accountability that takes precedence. Creating environments that lead to improved learning outcomes is an important consideration for all educators. Dylan also shared an example of how competing accountability systems have caused him to approach his work in a different way than his own professional accountability would suggest:

What does this [paperwork] have to do with me being in classrooms making sure that students move from level 2 to 3? Well, indirectly it does, but on a general level, no it doesn't. But I need to make that more important than the other. I get more emails about the safety of my building and things I have to watch for from the board than I do about how the board can help me move kids from level 2 to 3. Ten to one! I am a building manager far more than an instructional leader.

Dylan's desire to focus on creating accessible learning environments and improving the academic achievement of the students in his school exemplifies his commitment to being accountable to the profession. He also recognized that other accountabilities have to be prioritized and that he is bound to fulfilling these expectations. Classroom walk-throughs are one method principals use to become part of the learning environment and engage with students.

Classroom walk-throughs. As part of professional accountability, the principals in this study noted the importance of conducting regular walk-throughs to observe the teaching and learning processes occurring in classrooms. The principals indicated that regular classroom visits

provide them with opportunities to offer support and identify any potential issues. For example, Deserae emphasized her belief in this aspect of her work:

I have an obligation and an interest to get out there and as much as possible to be outside and be in the hallways and classrooms. I wouldn't let a week go by without having gone into every classroom. That would feel wrong to me. This is not to say that I spend a lot of time, but I look for a lot when I go in and I can tell quickly because I know what to look for in terms of performance. And if something doesn't seem right then I need to act on it.

Deserae has a strong sense of commitment to student learning. She referred to constantly assessing what is happening in classrooms when she conducts walk-throughs and feeling confident in her ability to recognize quality teaching practices. As part of her commitment to professional accountability, she acknowledged that any issues she observes will be immediately addressed with the staff member in order to improve the situation and provide needed assistance. Read shared a similar sense of commitment to teachers and students; he demonstrates this commitment by ensuring teachers have what they need to do their jobs to the best of their ability:

Resources that are relevant and reflect current thinking are essential. For example, books that focus on social justice issues and awareness are essential in today's classroom. I don't want teachers spending all of their time acquiring materials—there are other places for them to focus their attention, like on differentiating instruction and creating learning environments that meet the needs of all students. We work as a team and I try to be involved in classrooms as much as possible.

Read demonstrates professional accountability to his staff and school community by providing materials that address 21st century thinking and are reflective of the differences in ethnicity, socioeconomic status, and religion that exist within public education.

Jennifer's professional accountability specifically focuses on the academic achievement of the student body. She acknowledged the faith she has in her teaching staff, but indicated that she is always thinking about what else can be done to make learning more relevant to students today:

We are all educators and it is a shared responsibility among everyone at our school to provide engaging opportunities for learning and to share them. It is difficult for us [schools] to keep abreast of what our students are motivated by but it is our responsibility to figure it out.

Jennifer emphasized that professional accountability is shared among all educators with the common goal of enhancing student learning. She is confident that her teachers will uphold their own professional accountability: She supports the personal growth of her staff by allowing them opportunities for trial and error as they embark on new and innovative teaching strategies.

Legal accountability. Legal accountability in education refers to the requirement that schools adhere to legislation and laws. In general, legal accountability focuses on actions in the public domain that organizations are accountable to uphold (Dwivedi et al., 1989; Pollock & Winton, 2015). One of a principal's main responsibilities is ensuring that their school functions according to established laws and regulations (Darling-Hammond, 2004; Pollock & Winton, 2015).

Class distribution. The process of arriving at an approved staffing model for the school year is laden with legislated, policy-based guidelines. As the process begins, principals are given a framework that outlines the number of primary, junior, and intermediate classes that must be in place for September, based on student enrollment projections. For the model to be approved, principals, along with the school staffing committee, must place students into classes based on the allotted number of staff members. Occasionally, the board provides the option of an exemption class, which allows for a Grade 3-4 split to help ease the frequently larger junior class sizes. Suzanne described her frustration with the staffing processes that typically result in high numbers in the Junior classes to maintain the primary cap of 20 students:

When we are given the framework and the school staffing committee meets, we often look at each other and realize there isn't much we can really do to make it work. Declining enrollment due to the revitalization project isn't helping either, but it is

frustrating when you know that 38 students with diverse needs will be in such large classes. I feel like my hands are tied and I can't do what is in the best interest of our kids.

Determining the staffing model involves a nonnegotiable bureaucratic form of accountability: Principals must align precisely with the guidelines assigned by the board in order to have the model approved. Given that many aspects of bureaucratic accountability are based in law, there is a strong connection between these two forms of accountability. Throughout the class distribution process, principals must adhere to the guidelines presented for each school, regardless of whether the allocation of resources best suits the specific needs of the context. This is often a conflicting time for principals because they are bound by guidelines that state how many classes may be created in each division. While principals often return to their supervisory officers to request an additional staff member or the possibility of an exemption class, they may be denied because of resource constraints that result from insufficient funding. This presents a challenge because, even though principals know it is not in the best interest of the students, they are bound to follow directives of the board. In this way, legal accountability aligns closely with several aspects of moral accountability.

Moral accountability. All principals who participated in this study articulated a common theme: the struggle to find balance between participating in school life and ensuring their work—comprised of the mandated legal policies and procedures through bureaucratic, legal, and professional accountability—is complete. The principals expressed a strong desire to be present in the school hallways, attend learning engagements within the school, and be visible among the student body. Clare explained what she has to do for this to happen:

Every day is such a myriad of things and there is never enough time to be everywhere and yet, some days my work can wait and I put it aside and being a member of the school community has to take the lead.

Rose, like Clare, described intentionally prioritizing moral accountability and setting aside other work:

Every year I say to myself that I will be out of my office more, or I will do things differently to make sure I can attend more soccer games, or spend more time watching the students conduct science experiments. And there are times when it happens, but most times I see video or pictures and it isn't what I had in mind when I took this job.

Rose expressed that she was unaware the job of school principal would be so disconnected from students and the learning process, both in the building and through extracurricular activities. She expressed that each year she intends to be more present and involved, but despite her efforts it is not always possible.

Henry addressed another aspect of moral accountability: he discussed the importance of having learning opportunities for students that extend beyond the curriculum both within and outside the school day. His school is located in a community with low socioeconomic status, where there are few opportunities for students to be involved in positive activities after the school day ends. In order to increase opportunities for students, he addressed these concerns with his staff and together they brainstormed agencies and local organizations that could offer different opportunities:

We had heard about the Hockey Education Reaching Out program and did some research and secured 10 spots for interested kids. They provide properly fitting equipment, free ice time, and instruction. The kids love it! We discovered that the Regent Park School of Music offers subsidized music lessons for students and even provides some grants for group lessons for kids who need it—and ours do. There are free swim times at a local indoor pool and through Parks and Recreation there are free swimming lessons to be had. We knew we needed to do more, and this was a start—and we are continuing to find more.

Henry articulated that focusing on the academics of his school population was not sufficient. He and his staff sought support from local agencies willing to support students from families with low socioeconomic status and brought opportunities to the school community.

Similarly, Deserae highlighted the importance of mental health education: she brings a variety of age-appropriate programs into her school several times throughout the year. She also organizes evening sessions geared toward parents on a variety of issues, such as postpartum depression, anxiety, and clinical depression through the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health:

Issues surrounding mental health are still taboo in many different cultures and we owe it to our students and their families to provide information and offer a window of hope. After this many years in education you have seen many things and to not recognize that families in your school are struggling with mental health issues, right now, you're kidding yourself.

Deserae indicated that the school-based sessions instigated many important conversations with students, which was her original hope. She believes strongly in educating her school community about important issues such as mental health and eliminating the stigma attached to it. Deserae shared that she has passed on this information to many of her principal colleagues and they have brought the programs to their schools as well. Sharing resources and ideas among colleagues is one strategy that principals use to meet accountability expectations.

Intrinsic motivation. Intrinsic motivation is a positive force that contributes to increased work engagement and a desire to help others (Kuvaas & Dysvik, 2009). Several of the elementary principals in my study stated that intrinsic motivation is important because Ontario schools have no policies in place that demand student improvement. As a result, Henry believes:

...it is the intrinsic accountability that appeals to the professional and it says, "Oh my gosh, many of my kids are underperforming at level 2—what am I going to do about that?" As a principal, there is nothing formal that I can do. It would be that relationship piece, where it would be the principal saying to the teacher, "what can we do to improve the learning in your class and what are the extenuating circumstances, and mitigating factors that are preventing these kids from showing improvement?" As the principal, it is my job to motivate my staff to determine what is needed with their students and then I need to support teachers' learning to make this happen. Building the relationship is pivotal in order to make this happen.

According to Henry, intrinsic motivation is important for Ontario education workers because there are no formal punitive repercussions for results that fall below the provincial standard. Henry also believes, however, that by building positive relationships with teachers, principals can have a collaborative working rapport that will support positive changes in the classroom and ultimately improve student learning. He also spoke to being a professional, which highlights the connection between moral and professional accountability. Further, Tracey acknowledged that self-directed professionalism is a vital component of how education workers function at all levels. Tracey strongly believes that her motivation to be the best principal she can comes from within herself:

The pressure to improve comes more from me. As long as I do what I am supposed to be doing to the best of my abilities and try to improve and learn and do better. There are so many other factors, but I am not worried about being fired from my job in any way. However, I want to do better because I don't want to let the kids down. And I think that it is a professional piece there too because I want to be as good as I can be in my job. So, I have never really felt that pressure, in all reality, from outside; I put it on myself.

Like Henry, Tracey believes intrinsic motivation to be an underlying trait of being a professional person—one who cares about their performance to enhance their own feelings of self-worth. She believes it motivates people to work hard and incite positive change. Tracey's motivation to be an effective principal is not based on fear or demands from her supervisory officer or her employer, the board. This was a unanimous theme among the principals, who indicated they do not fear losing their jobs based on performance; instead, something deep within themselves drives them to ensure their respective school sites are functioning optimally.

Just as teachers benefit from the support of their principals when looking to make changes to their educational practice, principals also require support and insight from other administrators to manage day-to-day pressures and balance the numerous expectations that often must be handled simultaneously. By establishing trusting relationships, principals have

opportunities to talk through the issues and challenges they are facing. Working collaboratively with their staff members and principal colleagues is crucial when working toward meeting various accountability expectations.

Market accountability. While only one participant shared an experience with market accountability, it is still necessary to discuss this experience because it highlights the influence that publishing EQAO results has on the residents of some Toronto neighbourhoods. Henry shared a story about an incident that had occurred the previous school year:

Last year, I received a call from a parent who was freaking out because in this area of town there are two Anderson Avenues...one with an "o-n" and the other with an "e-n". So, she bought a house on Anderson Avenue, which was not in my catchment, and she called the school and said she had just called the office and they had told her they were not within district and I said that's right...the other Andersen Avenue is within the district. She went on to say, "Well, my real estate agent said that I was in district! I can't have my kid go to that other school because their EQAO scores are abysmal! He needs to come to your school." So, I said to her, "I am really sorry, but we are a closed school because we don't have the space." She replied, "His future is gone!" Meanwhile, he was in Grade 2 at the time. She went on to say, "I am suing my real estate agent; I am calling a lawyer."

Henry's example highlights the gravity some parents place onto the results of EQAO testing: buying a home in a school district that performs better on the large-scale assessment and threatening legal action when an error had been made. Unsurprisingly, real estate agents use this information as a selling feature to highlight certain properties. When I asked Henry if he felt pressured by this type of reaction, he replied: "No, not at all. Some years the EQAO scores will be higher than others and that is how it goes. Some people get caught up in the media and don't realize what that test actually represents." He did not express feeling any pressure as a result of the emphasis the local community placed on the assessment results.

Strategies Elementary Principals Use to Meet Accountability Expectations

An underlying theme of accountability is at the very core of principals' work. The principals who participated in this study consistently recognized that their work is changing because of increasing accountability expectations. According to Max, accountability and answerability in principals' work appears to be growing. Max described changes and additional responsibilities that have become nonnegotiable during the eight years he has been a principal. Max explained some of these expectations:

Being a principal today is different than it was. I spend way more time tied to my desk dealing with more layers of work and I wear more hats. For example, working with facilities and architects and things I have no training with. Social workers, family law, psychologists, and then dealing with mental health concerns and working to get supports in place to reach a diagnosis and other health issues of students, teachers, and parents in the school community or when people have died and/or gone missing. I was trained as a teacher but I need to be conversant in many different areas today.

Max identified an increasing need for principals' to have knowledge that extends beyond expertise in teaching and learning. He believes that for principals to be successful in their work today, they must acquire a diverse range of skills that will enable them to function knowledgably in varying situations. Max's experience highlighted the changing nature of the job, which is becoming more focused on responsibilities that take time away from classrooms and students. As the school-based representative of the board, principals must oversee and be involved with all aspects of what is happening in their school. Max also expressed the importance of knowing how to manage when tradespeople, social workers, and psychologists enter the school site to provide services, which may contribute to additional paperwork and responsibility for ensuring various laws and policies are upheld.

Principals use different strategies to meet various accountability expectations. As professionals, many teachers kept abreast of research that provides updated approaches intended

to positively impact teaching practice. In many cases, these teacher leaders have a greater awareness of what will constitute effective instructional leadership in both theory and practice.

Teacher leaders. Teachers who are willing to take on leadership responsibilities—based on recognized skills that set them apart from their colleagues, which in many cases includes school administration—are valuable assets. Many principals from the study acknowledged that their skills may be somewhat outdated as a result of being out of the classroom for a number of years, and as such, they seek the expertise of their teacher leaders. Suzanne described the ways teacher leaders support school leadership in her school:

Teacher leaders can be a lifesaver. They are critical and it works for us because our school values sharing and collaboration and let's face it, many of us [principals] have been out of the classroom for a while. For example, within the last few years, our two POR's have facilitated the professional learning teams at our school and have done a thorough job of it. For the most part, teacher leaders have earned the respect of their colleagues and they [the teachers] value their expertise. This also gives teacher leaders chances to mentor newer teachers and more experienced ones as well, which in many cases is more relevant than coming from me.

Suzanne emphasized the importance of teacher leaders in her school: They facilitated professional learning teams for their colleagues and provided the instructional leadership that she did not have time to incorporate into her work day. She views their skills and support as a viable option to help provide instructional leadership in her school. In addition, she recognized the contribution teacher leaders make to professional accountability by providing mentorship to new staff members.

Prioritizing and delegating. Elementary principals manage numerous tasks based in bureaucratic accountability on a daily basis. Clare addressed the limited amount of time principals have to complete their daily tasks, and identified the need for prioritization in her work day. Clare realizes that she is unable to accomplish every task that crosses her desk, and her

sense of professional accountability motivates her to delegate some aspects of her work to other staff members:

It's not that I am unable to do my job. I get what I need to done. There are just some things that I don't see the value in doing. Some of the paperwork that holds me accountable for little things, like a music inventory. They are going to send it to me every year and I am never going to find time to walk around the school counting instruments. I will pass it on to one of my teacher leaders and if the teacher chooses to do it, it will get done and if they don't, it doesn't. Simple as that. It's my time, and that is not the best use of it.

Clare illustrated that it is essential for principals to prioritize between accountabilities. She provided an example of a yearly accountability-based task assigned to principals who have instrumental music programs in their schools. While completing a music inventory is important, she expressed that it is not the best use of her time. Clare also indicated that, due to time constraints, some tasks may not be completed at all. Principals today are faced with so many different accountabilities that they must make decisions about where to focus their attention.

Consequently, some principals consider tasks that are not policy-based to be discretionary, given that there are no significant repercussions for noncompletion. In her statement, Clare acknowledged that principals have a choice to complete certain aspects of their work. She also affirmed that seeking support from members of her teaching staff has the potential to help her meet accountability expectations: When Clare manages the situation and delegates the task to another teacher, her own professional and moral accountability remain intact.

Challenges Elementary Principals Face to Meet Accountability Expectations

As previously mentioned, the work of elementary school principals has changed profoundly over the last few decades. The pervasiveness of accountability in education has continually increased: Principals' work today is almost entirely based in accountability (Pollock et al., 2014). The seven different forms of accountability outlined in my conceptual framework

impact the work principals perform each day. According to the principals in my study, negotiating these different forms of accountability presents daily challenges.

Time limitations. Clare emphasized that there are days when the work of principals is fast-paced; sometimes there is simply not enough time in the school day to address every issue that requires her attention. Clare described days when, despite her best efforts, she is not able to meet all of the accountability demands facing her:

I am accountable for everything that goes on in my school, from teachers' performance to students' performance to other staffs' performance and of course to my own performance. Sometimes I am a coach, other times I am a mentor, and other times I am the boss, depending on what the person needs and the circumstances at that particular point with the staff. However, with myself, I am likely my toughest critic, although maybe not some days because some people can be harder. And for kids, I try to be what the child and their family needs at the time. So, certainly an advocate, someone the kids can count on, rely on, and trust and try to help them wherever possible. Time is the issue. There just isn't enough of it or me, it seems, to go around.

Like Clare, Rose expressed that the constraints of the school day and constant demands for her time are an ongoing source of daily stress. Rose often feels as though she is letting people down because it is impossible to do all that is required while being physically present for all aspects of the school day:

My staff comes to me, and it is important that I am present for them, and there are always situations with students that require my immediate attention. When parents come to see me, or call, I feel they deserve my attention also. Each thing that comes up can't be solved quickly. Sometimes it takes time and I owe it to each person to serve their needs to the best of my ability. When I can't I can sense their frustration and it doesn't leave me. There are a lot of evenings spent thinking about how I have not done enough.

In both cases, Clare and Rose felt compelled to provide support but were frustrated that not every circumstance could be rectified immediately after it was brought to their attention. Given that some situations arising during a school day are more time-sensitive than others, Clare and Rose generally manage issues in a priority sequence.

Technology increasing principals' work hours. Rose indicated the necessity of finding a balance between the expectations that principals must meet. Supporting staff as they strive to create optimum learning environments is a priority for Rose, which often means she completes much of her own work after the school day is finished. She explained that her time after school hours is often spent reading hundreds of emails to fulfill her work responsibilities. According to Rose, this is one of the few options she has in order to be present in her school for both staff and students:

My work day does not end when students and staff leave the building. My car is always the last in the parking lot and it is what it is. My day isn't complete without contact with kids because that is why I do this job. It isn't to sit at my desk. On a typical day, I receive hundreds of emails that need to be read and many of them have to be answered. It is not uncommon that I am also responding to the beeps from my Blackberry at 10 p.m.—it isn't ideal, but it is the nature of the work.

For Rose, accountability takes the form of electronic correspondence. While some of the emails she receives are not pressing, they are all important to some aspect of her work. Read shared a similar experience, and indicated that emails and telephone calls comprise a significant amount of principals' time, even after they have left the building and are in their respective homes. Read recalled one evening when he was out at a family birthday dinner and his young son asked him, "'Dad, are you going to put your phone away?' I had to explain...Daddy was waiting for a couple of emails for work that were important. And my wife wasn't happy, either." As the principal in a challenging urban school where there can be numerous Children's Aid cases and other timesensitive issues involving the police, Read views these interruptions to family time as an occasional requirement of his job:

My work is not an 8:00 a.m.–5:50 p.m. job where I can just turn my phone off and walk away. Not at all. My day begins shortly after 5:00 a.m. with checking my emails and responding to anything that is pressing. Often I wake up in the night and I am thinking about work, too. It can be all encompassing. I aim to be at work by 7:30 a.m. and it is not

uncommon for there to be someone waiting—a teacher, my head caretaker, a parent—with concerns. It is part of it. The same goes for the end of the day. My plan may be to leave the building by 6:00 p.m., but it is not unusual for something to come up and I am the sole administrator in my building. It can be a lot. Sometimes I struggle with it. It even makes me wish I was doing this job before the Blackberry. Jim Balsillie [former CEO of Research in Motion] has made life easier and yet, more 24-7.

According to Read, technology contributes to principals' inability to disconnect from their work and creates challenges in his personal life. He implied that the amount of work expected of elementary school principals has changed and technology can make principals' work nonstop.

Read realized it was crucial for him to find balance between his work and his family time:

At that moment, I knew it [Blackberry] was having a negative impact on my family when my son looked me straight in the eye and let me know that I was there in body but that was where it ended. And he was right... my mind was trying to figure out how I was going to manage what was going to be a delicate reentry to school for a student in the morning.

Read's work as a principal frequently detracts from his personal time, and board-issued technology makes the separation of work and personal time more challenging.

Work downloaded to principals. Board restructuring has altered what is expected of principals. According to Dylan, more work has been downloaded to the schools to manage as a result. This change has made principals responsible for tasks that were previously handled centrally at the board level:

The role has changed in that more is downloaded onto the principal. In years past, if a teacher was having difficulty in a particular subject area I could call a consultant. They would work and coteach with the teacher, and there were all sorts of wonderful supportive things happening. And now there are not nearly the supports available to influence teaching practice. So, if a teacher is having problems, the coaching for that teacher must come from me. In the same way, when a student arrives who needs support, I'd call and the board would send us someone over, even temporarily, until something permanent was put into place. Now, if I have a child with special needs and we don't have the staff available to support this particular child and he gets aggressive every day, he comes to me and I need to be with that child. So, when this is the case, I am not able to be in classrooms nor am I available to work on developing math teaching strategies with staff to support student learning. There is only a limited amount of time during the day.

Dylan described the impact these additional responsibilities have on his work day and how they diminish the amount he is able to accomplish. While principals may intend to provide teaching and learning support, they are often caught between conflicting responsibilities for student safety and increasing levels of accountability.

Principals' work is unpredictable. Certain aspects of principals' work are predictable—for example, compliance work—but much of their work is not. Principals' work tends to vary based on the events of the day and what presents as being most urgent. According to Henry, remaining flexible and being prepared for anything is essential for principals:

At any moment, my plan for the day could change. Anything can happen: a parent issue that requires my consulting with others, a critical issue with a student that may take hours to investigate, an accident, a building issue, the police, Children's Aid, student and teacher issues...it could be anything and you have to go with it. My days are spent putting out fires, then I look at my watch and realize I have done nothing that I planned to do today—and that's how it goes. But, then I'm behind and what I had planned to be involved in tomorrow may have to be changed based on how time-sensitive what I missed today was. Everyday I feel behind and I'm always running to catch up. And I'm not the only one...my colleagues are in the same boat.

Henry frequently feels behind because the unpredictable nature of his work takes him away from what he originally plans for his day. As a result, Henry often has to cancel other planned events to complete time-sensitive missed work.

Supports Elementary Principals Use to Manage Accountability Expectations

The term *supports* in this context will refer to anything or anyone that helps principals meet the challenges of managing multiple accountability systems in their work. The elementary principals in this study believed that finding supports to help them meet their accountability expectations is essential. The principals felt strongly that there are too many different responsibilities to manage in isolation and that supports enable them to fulfill the different aspects of accountability with greater success.

Relationships with colleagues. The principals who participated in this study all highly value their relationships with fellow principals, who offer firsthand experience on how to manage difficult circumstances, provide emotional support, and share resources to save each other time. They each find value in networking opportunities and remain in close contact with several colleagues. Often, these colleagues turn into friends.

Having strong collegial relationships with fellow principals is important for Dylan: he can consult on specific situations, ask advice, and seek sympathy. He also stressed that knowing who to call based on the nature of the situation is highly important:

A part of it is knowing who to call and that there are lots of people out there with the experiences who can assist. Experience has taught me this. While some people have one phone-a-friend or two phone-a-friends, depending on the issue I could nail out exactly who to phone to get the answer, so the stress is going away quickly. This means I am not freaking out trying to get an answer or end up getting 20 different answers. It is knowing who that right person is for the right issue, or who to call to make sure I get to the right person, because it is a big board and there are lots of layers to it. And you may think that something falls into one category and it doesn't because it is something totally different. It is also important to not be afraid to ask the questions and on the flip side, it is also being confident enough when something isn't really a big deal. The people around you might perceive things to be huge but when you actually put it into perspective you can manage and deal with it and it is not an immediate thing—lots of stuff can be put on the shelf for saner times.

According to Dylan, it is necessary for principals to be aware of the complexity of situations when determining who to call. Regardless of uncertainty, he emphasized the importance of reaching out, asking questions, and also being able to look at a situation and determine whether or not it must be dealt with immediately. Dylan emphasized that experience makes the job easier, but it is still essential to have a broad range of contacts that can be trusted to give accurate direction and information.

Similarly, Suzanne emphasized the value of having a group of trusted colleagues as a resource when dealing with the challenges that often accompany accountability-based decision-

making. She also recognized the importance of sharing strategies and seeking the opinions and insights of others when required. Suzanne relies on the teacher leaders in her school because they often maintain closer connections with the other staff members and have social capital within the building:

My colleagues for sure. There are so many quick decisions that need to be made throughout every single day. For this, looking to our teacher leaders is critical, too. Our environment is fairly collegial. If there has been a strategy that has worked, we are encouraged to share what you have learned to gain the "most good" from the learning and to build capacity. We have terrific support through our senior admin. And we have talented consultants, albeit fewer, and success breeds success.

Suzanne provides opportunities for her staff by seeking expertise from other school board employees who have particular areas of specialization. She believes creating successful situations is highly important, and these may include supporting teachers by having a consultant visit the school, or seeking guidance from the senior administration in her board, as required.

Henry placed similar importance on having a group of trusted colleagues who act as critical friends. He believes these relationships allow principals to support each other by sharing ideas and strategies to manage accountability expectations:

I think one of the best supports is a sense of team, whether it be with the staff from your school or other colleagues. I've always had friends that I have worked with. In fact, I actually have a good friend who works in the Catholic board, which is great because sometimes this provides me with a different perspective.

According to Henry, having a trusted group of colleagues creates a beneficial support network when making difficult decisions. These colleagues can be from their own school, from other schools, and even from different school boards. Henry noted that it can be especially advantageous when these critical friends are from different school boards because they can provide different perspectives. He also emphasized the importance of developing connections with the people who work in his school and having confidence in their professionalism.

Experience and reputation. Deserae's years of experience are a tremendous asset as she navigates different accountability expectations. She believes she has gained credibility from her reputation as a professional who attempts to work through issues in her own school before seeking assistance from the board:

Sometimes they are a source of support, yes. It really is about knowing people. And knowing what they know and what they don't know. If I really needed an SNA [Special Needs Assistant], I could phone someone in a position of power with whom I share a mutual respect. They would know I have already tried A-Z and I am not someone who is just picking up the phone saying Johnny has just kicked someone for the first time—we have done a lot to work with the situation and so, yeah, I have been around long enough that I have a good network from around the board and many of whom are in higher up positions, which helps.

Deserae acknowledged the advantage she gains from her well-established and respected reputation in the board with her supervisory officers and principal colleagues. As a result of her many years of experience, Deserae feels confident that, should a question or issue arise, she has an established network of people in decision-making positions who will be able to provide the assistance she needs. She also enjoys being a resource for principals with less experience:

The other thing that is good is that I am able to be a resource to other people. So having them pick up the phone and call to ask me questions, this is good too because it forces me to reflect on my answer. This is where I go back to the policy and procedure piece where my own making of decisions is one thing, but when I am making suggestions to my colleagues it is based on policy.

Deserae's years of experience and success as a principal allow her to provide support to newer principals, and means she requires less support than she did at the beginning of her career.

Despite her experience and trust in what she has learned through her years as principal, however, she continues to seek clarification from the policy and procedure link on her school board's website for principals and encourages other less experienced principals to do so as well. For Deserae, acting as a resource to newer principals to contributes to "making a difficult job less nebulous and more concrete." Deserae finds working with newer principals positively impacts

her own practice because it creates opportunities for reflection on her own problem-solving approaches.

Accessing support from outside agencies. While principals have certain mandatory requirements they must meet, they also have agency and choice as well. Every principal who participated in this study addressed accountabilities relevant to their specific school context, based on the community where their school is situated. Finding a balance between these different accountabilities and developing ways to manage them present an ongoing challenge. Read, for example, believes bringing in programs is necessary, and he finds programs that will cover more than one accountability-based issue at a time within his school. He believes in shared leadership and empowers staff members to oversee partnership programs with independent schools and other community agencies that have the potential to contribute to the academic support and advancement of students, provide positive mentorship, and create opportunities for physical activity. The Running and Reading program at Read's school, scheduled twice per week at lunchtime, has been strongly supported by the parent community and several parents have become involved with the 10-week program:

The school community has high expectations of us—and they should. There are many academic gaps and lots of behaviour issues on the school yard, and before and after school, too. "What are you going to do about this?" is something I hear from parents of kids who have been on the receiving end of a recess issue. They have a point. What are we to do? Staff are on duty and yet, it doesn't stop the issues. So, we connected with a local independent school and started a Running and Reading program at lunch. It wasn't a big hit right off the bat, but it has caught on. Now, some kids who couldn't manage before can't wait to see their older buddy who spends 20 minutes reading with them and then they all go out for a 20-minute run. With some kids, I can say there has been a notable change in their behaviour.

Using support from community agencies has positively impacted the students in Read's school.

According to Read, one benefit of this program is the positive relationships that develop between

the students and their older mentors. He also observed that there have been fewer negative interactions on the playground since certain students began participating in the program.

In another example, Rose brought the Youth to Youth program from the Right to Play agency into her school to provide leadership for older students and structured play opportunities for younger students. The focus of this program is to empower youth to collaborate and facilitate games for younger students that inclusively promote fair play and a love of physical activity. These leadership opportunities also allow students to identify problems in the school and develop action plans to educate their peers. Rose believes that the entire school body benefits from such programs:

Outside agencies like Right to Play come into schools and provide excellent motivational training for students. They build self-confidence in our kids and make them feel part of the solution through leading positive play with younger students who either don't have anything to do at recess and end up creating issues, or the ones who haven't made friends in their classes. It also creates opportunities for making new friends that otherwise might not have happened. From the office perspective, it is positive because we need to keep our suspension numbers down, and by working at creating community here and making school a place where kids feel safe and included...they want to be here. We are hopeful.

Read and Rose both identified benefits that come from involving outside agencies in schools. In both of these circumstances, the principals wanted positive experiences and mentoring that would ideally translate into positive change in their students. Both principals believe increasing physical activity and providing opportunities for positive play, as well as ensuring academic support and fostering leadership skills, improve student learning and build self-confidence.

Chapter Summary

This chapter presented the findings from my four research subquestions: (a) How do elementary school principals understand accountability in their work? (b) What strategies do elementary principals use to meet accountability expectations? (c) What challenges do elementary principals face attempting to meet accountability expectations? (d) What supports

need to be in place for principals to meet work-place accountability expectations? The elementary school principals who participated in this study described their circumstances with passion and, at times, regret that they were not able to do more for their schools because of time constraints and the need to prioritize certain processes over others. While participants acknowledged feeling bound by policies, they shared a strong sense of commitment to serving their school populations and accepted upholding policy as part of the job. This included striving to find a balance between the multiple accountabilities mandated by legislated policies and board initiatives while creatively incorporating aspects of moral accountability. By accessing supports, principals successfully developed strategies that enabled them to meet diverse needs within their schools. In the next chapter, I will discuss the findings from my research subquestions.

Chapter 5: Discussion and Interpretation of Findings

In this chapter I present my analysis of how principals manage multiple accountability expectations in their work (Pollock & Winton, 2015); I interpreted my findings by looking at the lived experiences of the participants in my study. I have organized the tensions surrounding managing multiple accountability expectations into four categories: (a) bureaucratic accountability dominating principals' time, (b) the impact of technology, (c) competing forms of accountability, and (d) accountability and intrinsic motivation. Within this chapter, I refer to my conceptual framework and the different forms of accountability that comprise principals' work and discuss how principals' work is changing (Pollock et al., 2014).

Changes to Principals' Work Resulting from Increased Accountability

The work of Ontario elementary school principals is complicated by multiple forms of accountability. According to the participants in this study, prioritizing the issues that arise in their work is both necessary and challenging. Striking a balance between the forms of accountability that are integral to professional success "forces principals to juggle competing demands" (Pollock & Winton, 2015, p. 8). The principals in this study identified this juggling act as a significant challenge because their decisions impact all aspects of how their schools function: Their actions and choices directly impact the lives of hundreds of people each day. According to the data, for principals to be successful they require support from colleagues, supervisory officers, and teacher leaders from within their respective schools. The principals also found it advantageous to involve outside agencies and professional resources in their schools as a way to manage the accountability expectations in their work.

Ontario Principals' and Work Intensification

Over the last few decades, there has been a notable increase in the demand and complexity of principals' work, which is collectively making the work more stressful (ATA, 2014). The work of Ontario's elementary school principals is laden with accountability (Pollock et al., 2014; Pollock & Winton, 2015) and not surprisingly, the participants in this study felt they were constantly working at a deficit and attempting to catch up. Workplace stress resulting from increased workload and pressure has the potential to create feelings of burnout (Pollock et al., 2014), which is emerging as a significant issue. As principals contend with increasing demands from all directions, "it is inevitable that principals will struggle more compared to the past" (Ozer, 2013, p. 386). According to Maslach and Jackson (1986), "burnout is a syndrome of emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced personal accomplishment" (p. 1). Considering the continuous struggle facing principals as they juggle multiple accountabilities (Pollock & Winton, 2015), the increase in burnout is not surprising. In fact, the Catholic Principals' Council of Ontario (CPCO) report a notable increase in the number of principals accessing the Long-Term Disability (LTD) services reporting that "Psychiatric disorders (stress, anxiety) now account for 50 percent of the cases on LTD" (CPCO, 2009, p. 8). While my participants did not share any personal information regarding medical interventions, the majority expressed experiencing stress as a result an increasing workload and the extension of the work day into their personal time—as Henry mentioned, he felt as though he was always behind and was constantly trying to catch up. Thus, there is reason for concern that principals may not be able to continue working at their current pace for an extended period of time. This apprehension is supported by the OECD (Moorman, Nusche, & Pont, 2008): "there is growing concern that the role of school principal designed for the industrial age has not changed enough to deal with the

leadership challenges schools are facing in the 21st century" (p. 29). Principals work extremely hard and they are often the last to leave the school at the end of the day. Continuous workplace stress may deter other aspiring leaders from leaving the classroom and moving into school administration. Similarly, principals may decide to move back to the classroom or seek other employment within education because working as a school principal consumes too much of their personal time.

A *Globe and Mail* article from 2014 challenged the assumption that principals are primarily disciplinarians and highlighted the reality and complexity of principals' work. In their article, education reporters Caroline Alphonso and James Bradshaw indicated the number of teachers interested in moving into school administration was declining. They emphasized that 21st century principals must "ensure that their school scores highly on standardized tests" (p. 1), which was not a consideration for Ontario principals in the 1990s. The work of elementary school principals was not less demanding 20 years ago; rather, what principals contend with today are the job requirements of two decades ago with the added responsibility of performance-based accountability. As a result of these changes principals are often conflicted between what is significant to the school community and the expectations of their respective school boards and provincial government (Wallin, 2008).

Currently the only formal training principals receive is the two sections of the Principals

Qualification Program and various board-mandated training sessions. This may be changing,
however, as some school boards now require aspiring leaders to complete a Master's degree.

Similarly, the Ministry of Education has recognized that people moving into the role of principal
need more support; the Ministry has adopted a mentor/mentee process that has proven mutually
beneficial to both experienced and newer principals. This process has "motivated experienced

principals who were also on steep learning curves with new system initiatives" (Robinson, 2011, p. 24) while also supporting principals new to the field.

Tension One: Bureaucratic Accountability Dominating Principals' Time

Principals' work is driven by layers of accountability that structure how schools must function, and there are many mandatory, policy-based aspects of this work (Pollock et al., 2014). There was consensus among the principals of this study that supervisory officers, the board, and the Ministry of Education place too much emphasis on bureaucratic forms of accountability, including whether or not the health and safety bulletin boards were displaying current information rather than ensuring classrooms were meeting the specific needs of students. While the principals did not minimize the importance of staff compliance training and maintaining a safe school site for all members of the school community, they felt conflicted because this focus on bureaucratic accountability means they cannot prioritize other important aspects of their work. Unsurprisingly, the participants were deeply concerned about future student learning and well-being. Principals' work in schools is critical to setting the tone and school culture, and this complicated role is directly influenced by the increasing demands of the school community and the public. As mentioned earlier, Pollock et al. (2014) discovered that principals spend approximately 59 hours working per week; their findings also suggest that the majority of principals' time is spent engaging in managerial tasks, when 82% would prefer to spend more time working as an instructional leader within their school than the approximately five hours currently available to them. Thus, a tension is created between what principals feel they should be engaged in during the school day and the heavy focus of their work on bureaucratic accountability-based tasks.

Limited opportunities for instructional leadership. Lunenburg (2010) views an instructional leader as a person who "helps the school to maintain a focus on why the school exists, and that is to help all students learn" (p. 1). While the Education Act does not specify that principals must provide instructional leadership within their school, it is implied by the Ontario Leadership Framework (OLF) that they have a responsibility to ensure ongoing improvement: "As instructional leaders, principals and supervisory officers embed direct involvement in instruction in their daily work through teamwork with all staff focused on improved school and classroom practices" (p. 7). Within the OLF, expectations for elementary principals are more defined: It states that principals "will need to take personal responsibility for enacting most of the leadership practices or working closely with a small leadership team to do so" (p. 8). While this may have been a more regular occurrence a few decades ago, the participants in my study felt they had very little time to provide this level of support because of their many other responsibilities. According to Pollock and Hauseman (2016), urban Canadian principals "spend two to three times more on administrative tasks than on tasks involving instruction because they face a heavy administrative burden" (p. 230). In previous years, school principals were able to look to Teaching and Learning Coaches and Instructional Leaders for support, however, according to several participants cost-cutting measures have reduced the number of these positions significantly. This restructuring at the board level returned the responsibility to principals' and reduced the amount of access to support for new and struggling teachers. Pollock and Hauseman (2015) discovered in their study, "Principals' Work in Contemporary Times," that these changes have heightened principals' accountability and notably increased the demand for principals' time. As a result, principals reported having less time to engage in instructional leadership with their staff members because of increased paperwork and other bureaucratic tasks.

Inadequate resourcing, resulting from cuts to monetary funding, is negatively impacting how principals engage in their work—and ultimately, their effectiveness (Faubert, 2012).

The principals in this study expressed that they do not have much time to conduct professional development with their staff members; as a result, they consider seeking expertise both from within and outside the school to be a viable alternative. Although the principals reported that many central board positions have been cut, scheduling instructional leaders to come into schools to provide in-service remains an option to address teaching and learning deficits. Similarly, principals can address the lack of time they have for instructional leadership by using experienced teachers leaders who can provide support to their colleagues. Accessing these in-house resources not only builds capacity within schools, but also provides a cost-effective option for teachers' professional growth. Pounder and Merrill (2001) support this thinking: They argue that to serve the multitude of needs within schools and address the various accountabilities, school leadership should be distributed to move the school learning community forward.

Tension Two: The Impact of Technology

Pollock et al. (2014) discovered that many principals struggle with how technology blurs the boundaries between their lives at work and at home. Each school administrator receives a Blackberry (or some other comparable brand of smart phone) to remain connected to their schools when outside the building, which extends their work day into what would otherwise be personal time. An Alberta Teachers' Association (2014) study identified challenges that advancements in technology have created for principals today, as there "is an increasing expectation that principals will be constantly accessible, whether via email or phone or in person,

to perform various functions" (p. 20). Thus, the integration of technology into principals' work has made maintaining a work-life balance even more challenging (Pollock & Hauseman, 2016).

According to the elementary principals in this study, while technology has streamlined how principals work in the 21st century, it keeps them more connected to their work and diminishes personal and family time, which they find frustrating. For example, Read shared feeling conflicted between his family time and checking his Blackberry for emails. The expectation that principals should be accessible 24 hours a day, seven days a week because they have a board-issued smart phone seemed to take an emotional toll on some participants, because it interfered with life outside of work.

Pollock and Hauseman's research (2015) highlights many of the challenging realities facing Ontario's principals today. A resounding "58.5% of principals identified a seemingly endless number of emails making them feel 'on call,' as a challenge in their work" (p. 3). The infusion of technology into principals' work has added another layer to their workplace accountability. The board-issued smartphones continuously connect principals to their school site through access to their email accounts and their assigned work phone numbers. One participant described the inclusion of technology and the subsequent expectations as "an electronic leash." Some of the principals believe smartphones contribute to work intensification because the phones give the board too much access to their personal time and adds to their work days.

Tension Three: Interconnectedness of Accountability Systems

In education, accountability systems are not mutually exclusive. Rather, there is an interconnectedness among the different forms of accountability that can make it difficult to determine where one ends and another begins. My analysis of the participants' responses has revealed that certain accountability systems are closely related, while other forms overlap and

compete. For instance, professional and moral accountability are closely linked because one can assume that a professional person could monitor his or her own actions through a sense of moral accountability. This line of thinking assumes that a professional person is also morally accountable, because they need to uphold standards of practice (Bivins, 2006). Similarly, many elements of bureaucratic accountability are closely tied to legal accountability, because much of principals' bureaucratic and administrative work is guided by policy and legislation. For example, principals must adhere to the legislation contained in the Occupational Health and Safety Act otherwise their schools can be closed down until the identified deficiencies are rectified.

All of the principals in my study felt that increased accountability has impacted their ability to complete their professional expectations. These increasing accountability expectations contribute to principals' work intensification: The principals often struggle to complete all aspects of their work during the school day while also remaining part of the school community. According to the OECD (Moorman, Nusche, & Pont, 2008), principals are experiencing stress that:

results from the expansion and intensification of roles and responsibilities, from ambiguity and conflict raised in the new functions, from the pace of change and demands of managing others in change, from heightened accountability for results and public scrutiny... such stress may diminish principals' ability to do their best work and over time it can erode their commitment to the job. (p. 31)

The participants expressed feeling torn between meeting the expectations of the formal policy-based components of their work and the less formal but equally important and valued aspects of their work. For instance, the principals considered being available to support students and staff, establishing relationships with students, and being present to celebrate the various aspects of student learning as important aspects of their work. Many participants spoke about the

importance of fostering positive relationships with both students and staff, but also noted that this interpersonal time often left other bureaucratic work incomplete by the end of the school day. As a result, they must decide whether to make the time during formal school hours or take time away from their personal time with family and friends. Many principals expressed "feeling pulled between their work and their families" (ATA, 2014, p. 25) and not able to conduct their personal lives with ease due to the demands of their work. All of the participants expressed this sentiment—they felt there was not enough time to complete everything that was expected of them. However, several principals confidently stated their commitment to home superseded their work and proudly made a point of telling me that they would always prioritize their families. These decisions were likely informed by a realization that their spouses and children must take precedence because balancing all of their personal and professional expectations is impossible for extended periods of time.

Tension Four: Accountability and Intrinsic Motivation

Ontario is not a high-stakes testing environment because potential job loss, school closures, and sanctions are not a concern for Ontario's principals. However, there are still challenges associated with managing multiple accountability systems. According to Adams and Kirst (1999), many educational stakeholders consider accountability to be "a springboard to school improvement" (p. 463). Fullan (2011) confirms this thinking and identifies what he considers to be "the drivers" that lead to ongoing, successful change and increase opportunities for improved student outcomes. He names intrinsic motivation as one of the critical components for making positive changes in systems of education: "The drivers I am recommending create the very fundamentals...learning and teaching become driven by the individual and collective intrinsic motivation that has permanent staying power" (p. 18). As management figures at their

school sites, principals are responsible for encouraging each staff member to be accountable to the needs of their students and to foster a school-wide focus on improvement.

According to the OECD (Moorman, Nusche, & Pont, 2008), the expectations for principals have changed because "increasing accountability requirements put pressure on school leaders to produce documented evidence of successful school performance" (p. 26). The OECD also recognizes that this may, "substantially add to the paperwork and time constraints for school leaders because they are required to carefully record, document, and communicate school-level and student-level developments" (p. 26). The principals in my study are passionate about their work and committed to maintaining high standards in education. They recognize the impact that multiple accountability systems have on their time and they juggle many priorities to manage these different forms of accountability. Despite these challenges, the principals are motivated to continuously seek supports and strategies that will help them meet their professional expectations.

Chapter Summary

In this chapter I interpreted the findings from my study. I began by looking at the data and describing how elementary principals currently view their work in schools. The principals in my study recognized that different forms of accountability drive their work and that their work has intensified. I organized the tensions that surfaced surrounding how principals manage multiple accountability expectations into four categories: (a) bureaucratic accountability dominating principals' time, (b) the impact of technology, (c) competing forms of accountability, and (d) accountability and intrinsic motivation. In the next chapter, I will present the implications for professional practice, implications for research in educational leadership, and recommendations for further research.

Chapter6: Summary, Assumptions, and Recommendations for Future Research

This study has explored how Ontario elementary school principals understand and manage competing accountability expectations in their work. My study conducted qualitative, semistructured interviews with 12 elementary school principals in Ontario. The participants described their work experiences, how they balance multiple forms of accountability, and how the expectations of their work has, and is, changing.

Summary of Study

How do Ontario elementary school principals understand and manage competing accountability expectations in their work? Ontario public elementary principals manage within the performance-based accountability system of education. By examining the experiences of the principals in this study, it is clear that they are deeply passionate about their work and extend themselves on a daily basis to fulfill the varying needs of the students and staff in their schools. The principals acknowledge the competing forms of accountability and they use their colleagues, teacher leaders, and outside agencies to manage the pressures they face. They also combine different accountabilities to deal with time constraints. My study also revealed that the role of elementary principals is changing—they are experiencing a significant increase in professional expectations. My research shows that one of the main contributing factors to these increasing work expectations is mounting levels of accountability. My findings also suggest that work intensification is taking a toll on family time and increasing principals' stress levels.

The changing demographics and diversity in Ontario's schools have created important challenges for elementary school principals. To create a welcoming school community that provides adequate learning opportunities for all students, principals must foster inclusive and

equitable learning environments. They must also recognize the needs of entire families, which can necessitate aligning outside agencies for additional support.

Summary of Findings

This section presents a summary of my findings for each research subquestion.

Research subquestion one: How do elementary school principals understand accountability in their work? The elementary principals in this study recognize that their work is driven by multiple forms of accountability: bureaucratic, performance-based, professional, legal, political, moral, and market accountability. The participants expressed that numerous types of accountability must be managed in their work. All forms of accountability require their attention and these can conflict because each involves different responsibilities. This makes the work of elementary school principals increasingly challenging and complex.

Research subquestion two: What strategies do elementary principals use to meet accountability expectations? The principals in the study stated that the strategies they use to fulfill their work-place responsibilities help them meet accountability expectations. The principals recognized prioritization and delegation as viable strategies to circumvent time constraints. Given that there is insufficient time for principals to conduct instructional leadership, the participants described seeking in-school support from teacher leaders. Many of the principals also acknowledged that, because they had been out of the classroom for many years, they are not as conversant with current teaching and learning methodologies. Thus, teacher leaders who keep abreast of developments in teaching and learning are a tremendous asset to principals. These leaders also frequently organize and facilitate different programs and initiatives that support aspects of moral accountability in schools.

Research subquestion three: What challenges do elementary principals face meeting accountability expectations? The participants identified time limitations as the most significant challenge they face in their work. There are often simply not enough hours in the day to complete all of their required tasks. The principals also stated that technology is increasing the length of their work day and blurring the lines between work and family time. Many principals believed that technology contributes to their work intensification because it prevents them from separating home and work life.

The principals saw the elimination of many central board positions as a tremendous loss because it took away needed resources. Previously, Instructional Leaders and Learning Coaches could be brought in to mentor struggling staff members. Without these resources, however, principals have the added responsibility of providing instructional support to struggling and/or newer staff members. The principals also find the unpredictable nature of their work challenging because their day can shift in a moment depending on what issues arise in their schools. The principals explained that, because their schedules keep getting pushed back, they often fall behind in their work.

Research subquestion four: What supports need to be in place in order for principals to meet work-place accountability expectations? The principals in this study agreed that their principal colleagues are vitally important: they can share firsthand experiences, strategies, relevant resources; they can provide emotional support and a sympathetic ear. They can also look to colleagues within their own school for support. Further, the principals benefit from having positive relationships with people who work in different departments—especially when they need information.

The elementary principals also saw their own experiences and good reputations as a form of support. They agreed that it is difficult to be a new principal coming into the role today; they are grateful that their experience helps them meet daily challenges. Many principals also saw their reputations as a form of support: They gain positive reputations because they are known to work hard and attempt to solve issues independently before turning to the board or their supervisory officers. The elementary principals also reported accessing outside agencies to meet the specific needs of their respective school communities. They emphasized that there are tremendous needs in schools today and outside agencies can help meet different accountabilities by providing specific information, training, and support as needed.

Assumptions

I made several assumptions within my research study. First, I assumed that the information the participants provided was true to their actual experiences and beliefs, and not what they believed was the "correct" answer, or what I wanted to hear. Second, I assumed that the participants would not simply state the board's position on the different topics. Instead, I assumed that each participant was confident that the ethics procedures in place would ensure anonymity and confidentiality, and would participate fully in the research.

Recommendations for Future Research

This study could be expanded and conducted with secondary principals to determine how accountability is managed at the high school level. It would be interesting to compare the findings from my research and analyze how accountability is potentially viewed and managed differently. A future study could look at how elementary principals in the independent school system view accountability, as it would provide insight into a privately-funded system of education. In particular, it would be interesting to discover whether market accountability is

more prominent in the private school setting and, if so, how it influences principals' work. It would also be interesting to see if different forms of accountability become more or less prevalent in the private school system. Specifically, a future study could examine how bureaucratic accountability influences the work of the principals and vice-principals in the independent school system, because they must navigate several different layers of school administration in addition to the Ministry of Education.

There is no indication that, going forward, policy-based accountability will be reduced. In fact, it is reasonable to assume that because new policies are currently being added to principals' myriad responsibility, the trend of downloading responsibility to principals will continue for years to come. That is, unless there is greater awareness at the board and the Ministry levels about the impact that work intensification is having on principals' well-being. My research has confirmed that principals feel conflicted: They want to be more involved in their schools, but feel unable to participate because of their administrative workload (ATA, 2014). Amending the Education Act to include instructional leadership as a component of what is expected of principals might resolve this ongoing tension between bureaucratic and moral accountability.

Implications for Professional Practice

The various universities and professional organizations that offer principal qualification programs should also provide a view into the realities of a career in school administration.

Specifically, these programs should address work intensification and the frequently overwhelming and conflicting expectations that comprise principals' work. Doing so would allow future principals to further prepare and find facts, as well as increase networking opportunities so they can create future support networks. The OECD (Moorman, Nusche, & Pont, 2008) suggests that providing additional training and support for principals "promises to be

a highly cost-effective human capital investment" (p. 30) because of the large impact principals have on their school environments and student learning. For this reason, the OECD argues principals are "a key policy lever for educational improvements" (p. 30). Unfortunately, many principals feel as though "they are constrained and confined to being small, frustrated cogs in a larger educational machine" (Blakesley, 2012, p. 12). With increased awareness and recognition of the conditions and circumstances influencing principals' work, however, the potential for change is real.

Implications for Educational Policy

The Ministry of Education should consider adjusting the Education Act to reflect the realities of the Principalship. As it currently stands, the expectations for principals are quite similar to those for teachers, which is not indicative of the actual responsibilities facing principals. Another option would be to revise the Education Act to lessen the intensification of principals' work and/or mandate in-built supports to help them manage increasing expectations. Given the greater policy requirements and insufficient time principals have to complete their work, the Ministry could also consider dividing the role of principal into two different jobs. The "principal" would continue to oversee the teaching and learning processes within the building, and an operations manager could supervise the maintenance of the school site. This would lessen the impact of work intensification on principals.

In addition, making the language of the Ontario Leadership Strategy and the Education Act consistent would provide clearer guidelines and a defined job description for principals. As Meyer (1993) importantly wondered: if school principals do not have a solid understanding of what their work entails, how can they be held accountable if they make a mistake?

Finally, the Ministry of Education should seek regular feedback from principals to ensure they are aware of principals' needs and other areas of concern. A regular feedback system could lower the number workplace absences due to medical leaves, and prevent principals from leaving the profession.

Chapter Summary

In the final chapter of this thesis, I have presented a summary of the findings for each research subquestion, the assumptions of my study, recommendations for future research, and implications for educational policy and professional practice. Work intensification has changed the role of elementary school principals in the province of Ontario, and the structures within the system have not adjusted to help principals manage. However, the passion and resiliency and of these education workers empowers them to make adjustments and seek out supports and strategies that will help them meet the challenges facing the Principalship and continue to create optimum learning environments.

References

- Adams, J. E., & Kirst, M. (1999). New demands and concepts for educational accountability:

 Striving for results in an era of excellence. In J. Murphy & K. Louis (Eds.), *Handbook of research on educational administration* (2nd ed.) (pp. 463-489). San Francisco, CA:

 Jossey-Bass.
- Airasian, P., Gay, L. R., & Mills, G. E. (2012). *Educational research: Competencies for analysis and applications* (10th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Merrill.
- Alberta Teachers' Association. (2014). The future of the principalship in Canada: A national research study. Retrieved from http://www.teachers.ab.ca/SiteCollectionDocuments/ATA/Publications/Research/The%2 0Future%20of%20the%20Principalship%20in%20Canada.pdf
- Alphonso, C., & Bradshaw, J. (2014, March 6). What makes a great principal and why few want the job. *The Globe and Mail*.
- Anderson, S., & Ben Jafaar, S. (2007). Policy trends and tensions in accountability for educational management and services in Canada. *The Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, 53(2), 207-227.
- Anderson, S., Leithwood, K., Louis, K. S., & Wahlstrom, K. (2010). *Investigating the links to improved student learning: Final report of research findings*. Retrieved from the Wallace Foundation website: http://www.wallacefoundation.org/knowledge-center/Documents/How-Leadership-Influences-Student-Learning.pdf
- Apple, M. W. (2006). *Educating the right way, markets, standards, God, and equality.* (2nd ed.) New York: Routledge.
- Auerbach, C. F., & Silverstein, L. B. (2003). Qualitative data: An introduction to coding and

- analysis. New York: New York University Press.
- Azah, V. N., Harris, T., Jantzi, D., Leithwood, K., & Slater, C. (2014). *Elementary principals'*and vice-principals' workload study: Final report. Retrieved from the Ontario Ministry of Education website:

 http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/policyfunding/memos/nov2014/FullElementaryReportOct ober7_EN.pdf
- Bartell, T., & Foote, M. Q. (2011). Pathways to equity in mathematics education: How life experiences impact researcher positionality. *Education Studies in Mathematics*, 78, 45-68.
- Bascia, N., Cumming, A., Datnow, A., Leithwood, K., Livingstone, D. (Eds.). (2005)

 International handbook of educational policy. Dordrecht: Springer. doi:10.1007/1-4020-3201-3
- Ben Jaafar, S., & Earl, L. (2008). Comparing performance-based accountability models: A Canadian example. *Canadian Journal of Education*, *31*(3), 697-726.
- Bivins, T. (2006). Responsibility and accountability. In K. Fitzpatrick & C. Bronstein (Eds.), *Ethics in public relations* (pp. 19-38). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Blakesley, S. (2012). Juggling educational ends: Non-Indigenous Yukon principals and the policy challenges that they face. *International Journal of Education Policy and Leadership*, 7(3), 1-14.
- Borg, M. G., & Riding, R. J. (1993). Occupational stress and job satisfaction among school administrators. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 31(1), 4-21. doi:10.1108/09578239310024692
- Bourke, B. (2014). Positionality: Reflecting on the research process. The Qualitative Report,

- *19*(18), 1-9.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101.
- Burke, M., Mooers, C., & Shields, J. (2000). Critical perspectives on Canadian public policy. In Restructuring and resistance: Canadian public policy in an age of global capitalism (pp. 11-23). Halifax: Fernwood Press.
- Catholic Principals Council of Ontario. (2009). Census survey report 2009, implications for succession planning. Retrieved from http://www.cpco.on.ca/news/docs/Role%20of%20the%20Principal.pdf
- Copland, A. M., Knapp, M. S., & Talbert, J.E. (2003, February). Leading for learning: Reflective tools for school and district leadership. Retrieved from the Centre for the Study of Teaching and Policy website:

 https://depts.washington.edu/ctpmail/PDFs/LforLSummary-02-03.pdf
- Corbin, J., & Straus, A. (1998). *Basics of qualitative research: Techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Creswell, J. W. (2003). Research design. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Creswell, J. W. (2007). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Crotty, M. (1998). The foundations of social research: Meaning and perspective in the research process. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Crowe, M., Inder, M., & Porter, R. (2015). Conducting qualitative research in mental health:

- Thematic and content analyses, *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 49, 616-623. doi:10.1177/0004867415582053
- Crum, K., Myran, S. & Sherman, W. (2009). Best practices of successful elementary school leaders. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 48(1), 48-63.
- Cuban, L. (2004). A solution that lost its problem: Centralized policymaking and classroom gains. In N. Epstein (Ed.), *Who's in charge here? The tangled web of school governance and policy* (pp. 104-130). Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (1989). Accountability for professional practice. *Teachers College**Record, 91(1), 59-80.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2004). Standards, accountability, and school reform. *Teachers College Record*, *106*, 1047-1085.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln Y. S. (1994). Entering the field of qualitative research. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 1-17). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Dewey, J. (1934). Individual psychology and education. *The Philosopher*, 12(1), 1-6.
- Dwivedi, O. P., & Jabbra, J. G. (Eds.). (1988). *Public service accountability: A comparative perspective*. West Hartford, Connecticut: Kumarian Press Inc.
- Dwivedi, O. P., Jabbra, J. G., & Stone, B. (Eds.) (1989). *Public service accountability: A comparative perspective*. Hartford, CT: Kumarian Press.
- Dysvik, A., & Kuvaas, B. (2009). Perceived investment in employee development, intrinsic motivation and work performance. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 19(3), 217-236.

- Education Quality and Accountability Office. (2012). *Understanding Levels of Achievement: Using EQAO Information to Improve Student Learning*. Retrieved from the EQAO website: http://www.eqao.com/en/assessments/junior-division/assessment-docs/understanding-achievement-levels-junior-division.pdf
- Education Quality and Accountability Office. (2013). *Ontario's provincial assessment program:*Its history and influence. Retrieved from the EQAO website:

 http://www.eqao.com/en/about_eqao/about_the_agency/communication-docs/EQAO-history-influence.pdf
- Elmore, R. F. (2005). Accountable leadership. *The Educational Forum*, 69, 134-142.
- Emstad, A. B. (2011). The principal's role in the post-evaluation process How does the principal engage in the work carried out after the school's self-evaluation? *Educational Assessment Evaluation and Accountability*, 23(4), 271-288.
- England, G. W., & Misumi, J. (1986). Work centrality in Japan and the United States. *Journal of Cross Cultural Psychology*, 17, 399-416.
- England, K. V. L. (1994). Getting personal: Reflexivity, positionality, and feminist research. *The Professional Geographer*, 46(1), 80-89.
- Faubert, B. (2012). A literature review of school practices to overcome school failure (Working Paper N°68). Retrieved from the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development website: http://www.oecd.org
- Firestone, W. A., & Gonzalez, R. A. (2013). Educational tug-of-war: Internal and external accountability of principals in varied contexts. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 51(3), 383-406. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/09578231311311528
- Firestone, W. A., Herriot, R. E., & Wilson, B. L. (1984). Explaining differences between

- elementary and secondary schools: Individual, organizational, and institutional perspectives. Philadelphia: Research for Better Schools, Inc. (ERIC No. ED342054)
- Firestone, W. A., & Shipps, D. (2005). How do leaders interpret conflicting accountabilities to improve student learning? In W. A. Firestone & C. Riehl (Eds.), *A new agenda for research in educational leadership* (pp.81-100), New York: Teachers College Press.
- Flessa, J. (2012). Principals as middle managers: School leadership during the implementation of primary class size reduction policy in Ontario. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 11, 325-343. doi: 10.1080/15700763.2012.692429
- Flessa, J., & Gregoire, H. (2011). Policy aspirations and dilemmas of implementation:

 Leadership for partnerships in Ontario, Canada. In Auerbach, S. (Ed.) School leadership

 for authentic family and community partnerships: Research perspectives for transforming

 practice (pp. 117-132). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Flessa, J., & Kugler, J. (2007). Leadership for parent and community involvement: Lessons from recent research in Ontario. *Education Today*, 19(1), 1-6.
- Fu, X., & Harpaz, I. (2002). The structure of the meaning of work: A relative stability amidst change. *Human Relations*, 55(6), 639-667. doi:10.1177/0018726702556002
- Fullan, M. (2001). Leading in a culture of change. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Wiley.
- Fullan, M. (2011). *Choosing the wrong drivers for whole system reform*. Centre for Strategic Education (Seminar Series Paper No. 204). East Melbourne: Australia, 1-19.
- Guba, E., & Lincoln, Y. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Beverly Hills, CA: SAGE.
- Hansen, B., Jóhannsson, O. H., & Lárusdóttir, S. H. (2004). The transfer of schools from the state to municipalities Decentralization or centralizing? *Netla Online Journal of Education and Pedagogy*. Retrieved from: http://netla.hi.is/greinar/2004/007/index.htm

- Harpaz, I. (1999). Work values in Israel: Stability and change over time. *Monthly Labor Review*, 122, 46-50.
- Harris, A., & Hopkins, D., & Leithwood, K. (2008). Seven strong claims about successful school leadership. *School leadership and management*, 28(1), 27-42.
- Hauseman, C., & Pollock, K. (2015). *Principals' work in contemporary times*.

 Retrieved from the University of Western Ontario website:

 http://www.edu.uwo.ca/faculty_profiles/cpels/pollock_katina/documents/OME-Report-Principals-Work-Contemporary-Times.pdf
- Hauseman, D. C., & Pollock, K. (2016). Canada: Principal leadership in Canada. In H. Arlestig,
 C. Day, & O. Johansson (Eds.), A Decade of Research on School Principals. Springer
 International Publishing: Switzerland. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-23027-6_11
- Hauseman, C., Pollock, K., & Wang, F. (2014). *The changing nature of principals' work, final report*. Retrieved from the University of Western Ontario website:

 http://www.edu.uwo.ca/faculty_profiles/cpels/pollock_katina/opc-principals-work report.pdf
- Hauseman, C. Pollock, K., & Wang, F. (2015). Complexity and volume: An inquiry into factors that drive principals' work, *Societies*, 5, 537-565.
- Heck, R. H. (2004). Studying educational and social policy: Theoretical concepts and research methods. Mahwah, MJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Henry, M., Lingard, B., Rizvi, F., & Taylor, S. (1997). *Educational policy and the politics of change*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hess, F. M. (2002). Reform, resistance, ...retreat? The predictable politics of accountability in

- Virginia. In D. Ravitch (Ed.), *Brookings papers on education policy* (pp. 69-122). Brookings Institution Press.
- Huberman, A. M., & Miles. M. B. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded source book* (2nd ed.). Newbury Park, CA: SAGE.
- Hunter, A., Jensen, B., Roberts-Hull, K., & Sonnemann, J. (2016). *Beyond PD: Teacher professional learning in high-performing systems*. Retrieved from The National Center on Education and the Economy website:

 http://www.ncee.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/BeyondPDWeb.pdf
- Jackson, S. E., & Maslach, C. (1986). Maslach burnout inventory manual (2nd ed.). Palo Alto,CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Jacobsen, R., Saultz, A., & Snyder, J. W. (2013). When accountability strategies collide: Do policy changes that raise accountability standards also erode public satisfaction?,
 Educational Policy, 27(2), 360-389.
- Kirby, S. N., & Stecher, B. M. (2004). Organizational improvement and accountability: Lessons for education from other sectors. Santa Monica: The Rand Corporation.
- Kowalski, T. J. (2010). The school principal: Visionary leadership and competent management. New York, NY: Routledge
- Krueger, L. (1995, September 15). What crisis? John Snobelen explains. *The Globe and Mail*, pp. A16.
- Kumpulainen, K., & Saarivirta, T. (2016). School autonomy, leadership and student achievement: Reflections from Finland. *International Journal of Education*Management. 30(7), 1268-1278. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-10-2015-0146

- Lárusdóttir, S.H. (2014). Educational leadership and market values: A study of school principals in Iceland. *Educational Management, Administration & Leadership*, 42(4S), 83-103. doi: 10.1177/1741143213510499
- Leithwood, K. (2012). *The Ontario leadership framework 2012 with a discussion of the*research foundations. Retrieved from The Ontario Institute for Education Leadership

 website: https://iel.immix.ca/storage/6/1345688978/Final_Research_Report_-_EN.pdf
- Levin, B. (2009). How to Change 5000 Schools. In M. Fullan, A. Hargreaves, D. Hopkins, & A. Lieberman (Eds.), *Second International Handbook on Educational Change* (pp. 309 322). Springer Netherlands. doi: 10.1007/978-90-481-2660-6 18
- Lichtman, M. (2010). *Qualitative research in education: A user's guide* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Lingard, B., & Rizvi, F. (2010). Globalizing Education Policy. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Linn, R. L. (2003). Accountability: Responsibility and reasonable expectations. *Educational Researcher*, 32(7), 3-13.
- Lunenburg, F. C. (2010). The principal as instructional leader. *National Forum of Educational* and Supervision Journal, 27(4), 1-7.
- Mannheim, B. (1993). Gender and the effects of demographics status and work values on work centrality. *Work and Occupations*, 20, 3-22.
- Merriam, S. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Merrill, R. J., & Pounder, D. G. (2001). Job desirability of the high school Principalship: A job choice theory perspective. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *37*(1), 25-57.
- Meyer, R. H. (1993). Can schools be held accountable for good performance? A critique of

- common educational performance indicators. In E.P. Hoffman (Ed.), Essays on the economics of education (pp. 75-109). Kalamazoo, NJ: W.E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research.
- Møller, J. (2009). School leadership in an age of accountability: Tensions between managerial and professional accountability. *Journal of Educational Change*, 10(1), 37-46. doi:10.1007/s10833-008-9078-6
- Moorman, H., Nusche, D., & Pont, B. (2008). *Improving school leadership, Volume 1: Policy and practice*. Retrieved from the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development website: https://www.oecd.org/edu/school/44374889.pdf
- Morrow, S. (2005). Quality and trustworthiness in qualitative research in counseling psychology. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52(2), 250-260.
- Ng, P. T. (2010). The evolution and nature of school accountability in the Singapore education system. *Educational Assessment, Evaluation, and Accountability*, 22(4), 275-292. doi: 10.1007/s11092-010-9105-z
- Normore, A. H. (2004). The edge of chaos: School administrators and accountability. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 43(1), 55-77.
- Ontario College of Teachers. (2009). Ontario College of Teachers: Principal's qualification program 2009. Retrieved from the Ontario College of Teachers Website:

 https://www.oct.ca//media/PDF/Principals%20Qualification%20program%202009/principals_qualification_program_e.pdf
- Ontario College of Teachers. (2016). Foundations of Professional Practice. Retrieved from the Ontario College of Teachers website: https://www.oct.ca/-/media/PDF/Foundations%20of%20Professional%20Practice/Foundation_e.pdf

- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2002). *Teacher performance appraisal manual*. Retrieved from: www.gov.on.ca
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2008). *Teacher performance appraisal*. Retrieved from: http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/teacher/teachers/.html
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2010a). *Teacher performance appraisal: Technical requirements manual*. Retrieved from:

 https://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/TPA/Manual/English.html
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2010b). Who we are. Ministry of education/Ministere de l'education. Retrieved from: http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/about/whoweare.html
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2012). *The provincial code of conduct and school board codes* of conduct. Retrieved from: http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/extra/eng/ppm/128.pdf
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2014a). *Achieving excellence: A renewed vision for education in Ontario*. Retrieved from: http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/about/renewedVision.pdf
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2014b). Equity and inclusive education in Ontario schools:

 Guidelines for policy development and implementation. Retrieved from:

 http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/policyfunding/inclusiveguide.pdf
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2016). *Leadership development: Ontario leadership strategy*.

 Retrieved from: http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/policyfunding/leadership/actionplan.html
- Ontario Principals' Council. (2009). Equity and Inclusive Education: Implementing Ontario's equity and inclusive education strategy. Retrieved from: https://www.principals.ca
- Ontario Principals' Council. (2012). The handbook for school leaders: A practical handbook for principals and vice-principals. Retrieved from:
 - https://www.principals.ca/book/readBook.aspx?bookID=1&tocID=24

- Ontario Public School Boards' Association. (2014). *Good governance: A guide for trustees, school boards, directors of education and communities.* Retrieved from:

 www.ontarioschooltrustees.org
- Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development. (2000). *Reducing the risk of policy* failure: Challenges for regulatory compliance. Retrieved from the OECD website: http://www.oecd.org/gov/regulatory-policy/1910833.pdf
- Ozer, N. (2013). Trust me, principal, or burn out! The relationship between principals' burnout and trust in students and parents. *Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, 59(3), 382-400.
- Pak, T. N. (2010). The evolution and nature of school accountability in the Singapore education System. *Educational Assessment Evaluation Accountability*, 22, 275-292. doi:10.1007/s11092-010-9105-z
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (4th ed.), Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Pinto, L. (2015). Fear and loathing in neoliberalism: School leader responses to policy layers. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 47(2), 140-154.
- Pollock, K. (2013). School success in a publicly funded, Catholic school. *Catholic Education: A Journal of Inquiry and Practice*, *16*(2), 313-338.
- Pollock, K., & Winton, S. (2015). Juggling multiple accountability systems: How three principals manage these tensions in Ontario, Canada. *Educational Assessment*, *Evaluation and Accountability*, 1-15.
- Pollock, K., & Winton, S. (2016). Meaning of success and successful leadership in Ontario,

- Canada, in neo-liberal times. *Journal of Educational Administration and History*, 48(1), 19-34.
- Popham, W. J. (1999). Why standardized tests don't measure educational quality. *Using Standards and Assessments*, 56(6), 8-15.
- Ranson, S. (2003). Public accountability in the age of neo-liberal governance. *Journal of Educational Policy*, 18(5), 459-480.
- Robertson, S., & Smaller, H. (1996). *Teacher activism in the 1990s*. Toronto: James Lorimer & Company Ltd.
- Robinson, J. (2011). Mentoring and coaching school leaders: A qualitative study of adaptive expertise for school administrators. *The Ontario Principals' Council Register*, 13(2), 22-25.
- Rose, J. B. (2002). The assault on school teacher bargaining in Ontario. *Relations* industrielles/Industrial Relations, 57(1), 100-126.
- Rosenkvist, A. R. (2010). *Using student test results for accountability and improvement: A literature review* (OECD Working Paper N°54). Retrieved from the OECD website: http://www.oecd.org
- Rousmaniere, K. (2013, November 8). The principal: The most misunderstood person in all of education, *The Atlantic*. Retrieved from http://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2013/11/the-principal-the-most misunderstood-person-in-all-of-education/28122
- Ryan, J. (2006). Inclusive leadership and social justice for schools. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, *5*(1), 3-17.
- Ryan, J., & Rottmann, C. (2007). Educational leadership and policy approaches to critical

- social justice. Journal of Educational Administration and Foundations, 18(1-2), 9-23.
- Saarivirta, T. (2008). Why not the best schools? The Finland report. Melbourne: ACER Press.
- Schultz, J. G. (1988). Developing theoretical models/conceptual frameworks in vocational education research. *Journal of Vocational Education Research*, *13*(3), 29-43.
- Schütz, G., West, M. R., & Wößmann, L. (2007). School accountability, autonomy, choice, and the equity of student achievement: International evidence from PISA 2003 (Education Working Paper No. 14). Retrieved from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development website: http://www.oecd.org/edu/39839422.pdf
- Seidman, I. (2013). *Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the social sciences* (4th ed.). New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Spiro, J. (2013). Effective principals in action. Kappan, 94(8), 27-31.
- Stake, R. K. (2006). Multiple case study analysis. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- The Institute for Educational Leadership. (2008). Putting Ontario's leadership framework into action: A guide for school and system leaders. Retrieved from http://live.iel.immix.ca/storage/2/1284580690/FrameworkAction.pdf
- The Institute for Educational Leadership. (2013). *Ontario leadership framework*. Retrieved from: https://iel.immix.ca/storage/6/1380680840/OLF_User_Guide_FINAL.pdf
- The Toronto District School Board. (2012). *Model schools for inner cities: MSIC news 2011*2012, term 1 update. Retrieved from The TDSB website:

 http://tdsb.on.ca/Portals/0/Community/Community%20Advisory%20committees/ICAC/
 main/MSIC%20NEWS%202011-2012%20Term%201.pdf
- Wallin, D. (2008). Rural school districts and provincial agendas: Educational priorities and Capacity. *Educational Management Administration and Leadership*, *36*(4), 566-587.

- William, D. (2010). Standardized testing and school accountability. *Educational Psychologist*, 45(2), 107-122.
- Wrigley, T. (2008). School improvement in a neoliberal world. *Journal of Educational Administration and History*, 40(2), 129-148.
- Yin, R. K. (2011). Qualitative research from start to finish. New York, NY: Guilford Press.

Appendix A



Research Ethics

Western University Health Science Research Ethics Board NMREB Delegated Initial Approval Notice

Principal Investigator: Dr. Katina Pollock

Department & Institution: Education\Faculty of Education, Western University

NMREB File Number: 106716

Study Title: How Public Elementary Principals Manage Performance-Based Accountability Expectations

Sponsor:

NMREB Initial Approval Date: July 24, 2015

NMREB Expiry Date: July 24, 2016

Documents Approved and/or Received for Information:

Document Name	Comments	Version Date
Western University Protocol		2015/05/08
Other	Letter to Dr. Joanne Robinson	2015/07/06
Recruitment Items	Email	2015/07/06
Revised Letter of Information & Consent		2015/07/06
Other	Interview Questions	2015/07/06

The Western University Non-Medical Research Ethics Board (NMREB) has reviewed and approved the above named study, as of the NMREB Initial Approval Date noted above.

NMREB approval for this study remains valid until the NMREB Expiry Date noted above, conditional to timely submission and acceptance of NMREB Continuing Ethics Review.

The Western University NMREB operates in compliance with the Tri-Council Policy Statement Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS2), the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA, 2004), and the applicable laws and regulations of Ontario.

Members of the NMREB who are named as Investigators in research studies do not participate in discussions related to, nor vote on such studies when they are presented to the REB.

The NMREB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000341.



This is an official document. Please retain the original in your files.

Appendix B



July 6, 2015

How Do Principals Manage Performance Based Accountability Measures?

Interview Questions

Background:

1. Can you tell me about your professional career up to this point?

Probe for:

How long a principal? How long in current school?

Worked in another school board?

How long she/he was a teacher?

Professional development? (what kind, how beneficial, any connected to performance-based accountability?)

Elementary principals understand performance-based accountability expectations

2. Scenario:

"How would you respond to this scenario? An individual recently travelled to your region and has never heard of performance-based accountability. How would you explain this to them? And how would you explain your role within performance-based accountability?"

3. Understanding of performance-based accountability expectations

Probe for:

What is the purpose of performance-based accountability?

From what you know about performance-based accountability, how does it align with your values as an elementary school principal?

Strategies elementary principals utilize to manage performance-based accountability expectations

4. Can you tell me how performance-based accountability influences your work?

Probe for:

What current policies influence how you are accountable to your school and school community? Do you see the role of principal changing due to the influence of accountability? If so, how? If not, please explain.

5. Has accountability changed during your years as principal?

Scenario:

"In the USA, many schools are teaching to the test in order to increase test scores. Do you think this is happening in Ontario? How would you explain the rationale for teaching to the test?

6. How do your Board's formal policies? Informal accountability policies/practices influence your work?

Probe for:

If 'teaching to the test' was happening in Ontario schools, do you think the Principals' would know? Why or why not?

Challenges principals experience as a result of accountability expectations

7. Can you describe for me some of the challenges you experience meeting the expectations of accountability in your school?

Probe for:

Influence on teachers

Pressure from parents/community (in support of/or against EQAO testing) performance-based accountability

8. What supports exist that help you manage accountability expectations?

Probe for:

School Improvement Planning policy

Board Improvement Planning policy

Networking with your principal colleagues from other school

EQAO information/training sessions

Teacher leaders and their expertise

Access to Instructional Leaders and other resources from the Board

How does your school effectiveness plan tie in?

9. Is there anything else you would like to add or expand upon before we end this interview?

Appendix C



Dr. Joanne Robinson
Director of Professional Learning
The Ontario Principals' Council

RE: Proposed study seeking to explore how public elementary school principals experience performance-based accountability expectations in their work

Dear Dr. Joanne Robinson,

My name is Carolyn Ball and I am a doctoral candidate from Western University working under the guidance of Dr. Katina Pollock. I am extremely grateful that you are willing to publish information regarding my study, as part of the recruitment strategy for my research, in the weekly email blast to Ontario principals.

My intended area of research seeks to explore how public elementary school principals understand and experience performance-based accountability expectations in their work. Ideally, I would appreciate the opportunity to conduct face-to-face interviews with approximately 25 principals who are working in the Greater Toronto Area. The inclusion criteria for this study are as follows: each elementary principal must have at least five years of experience working in the role of principal and have had at least one full year working in their current school. The principals' must also have a full-time vice-principal working with them at their school. The exclusion criteria for this study are as follows: elementary principals with less than five years of experience working as a principal, principals with at least five years experience and have been at their current school for less than one full year, and principals who have at least five years of experience and more than one year of experience at their current school, but do not have a full-time vice-principal. Principals from the secondary panel would also be excluded from this research.

I truly appreciate your time and support,

Sincerely,

Carolyn Ball Ed. D Candidate, Year II

Appendix D



How Elementary Principals Understand and Manage Performance-based accountability Expectations

LETTER OF INFORMATION – Revised July 6, 2015

Introduction

My name is Carolyn Ball and I am a Doctoral Candidate at the Faculty of Education at Western University. I am conducting research into how public elementary school principals understand and manage performance-based accountability in their work and would like to invite you to participate in this study.

Purpose of the study

The aims of this study are to investigate how elementary principals understand and experience performance-based accountability expectations and how they may be influencing your work.

If you agree to participate

If you agree to participate in this study, you will be asked to meet with the researcher for one 45-60 minute face-to-face interview at a conveniently agreed upon location. The interview will be audio recorded to ensure accuracy. Objecting to the audio recording would negate participant eligibility from the study.

Confidentiality

The information collected will be used for research purposes only, and neither your name nor information, which could identify you will be used in any publication or presentation of the study results. All information collected for the study will be kept confidential. The data obtained in this study will be stored separately from the main data set on a separate hard drive that is encrypted with BitLocker. All data will be kept for five years in accordance with Western University policy. After five years, the laptop and memory stick will be wiped and reformatted and all paper copies of the data will be shredded

Risks & Benefits

There are no known risks to participating in this study. However, participation in this study may provide opportunities for reflection on your work and a heightened awareness of how other principals may or may not be experiencing performance-based accountability.

Voluntary Participation

Participation in this study is voluntary. You may refuse to participate, refuse to answer any questions or withdraw from the study at any time.

Questions

If you have any quest	ions about the conduct of	of this study of	or your rights as a
research participant y	ou may contact the Offi	ice of Researc	ch Ethics, Western
University at	or	. If you have	e any questions about
this study, please con	tact Carolyn Ball at		or Dr. Katina Pollock at
or	by telephone at		

This letter is yours to keep for future reference.

How Public Elementary Principals Understand and Experience Performancebased accountability Expectations

Researcher: Carolyn Ball - Doctoral Candidate Principal Investigator: Dr. Katina Pollock

CONSENT FORM

I have read the l	Letter of Infor	mation, have	had the na	ature of the	study ex	kplained 1	to
me and I agree t	to participate.	All questions	have been	n answered	to my sa	atisfaction	n.

Name (please print):	
Signature:	Date:
Name of Person Obtaining Informed Consent:	
Signature of Person Obtaining Informed Consent:	
Date:	

Appendix E: Interview Guide 2

1. Please tell me about your career in education up to this point.
2. Please tell me about how you view accountability in your work?
3. Do you face any challenges meeting accountability expectations?
4. What supports, if any assist you with meeting accountability expectations?
5. In your opinion, has the role of the elementary school principal changed since you first became a principal? If so, how?
6. Is there anything else you would like to add?
Probes:
Could you please describe for me a situation where you have experienced this? Why do you think that? Please tell me more about that. How do you know?

Vitae

Name: Carolyn Ball

Post-secondary Education and Degrees: The University of Western, Ontario, London, Ontario, Canada 2013-2016 Doctor of Education (Educational Leadership)

Brock University, St. Catharines, Ontario, Canada

2000-2003 Master of Education (Curriculum Studies)

The University of Maine at Presque Isle, Presque Isle, Maine, USA

1996-1997 Bachelor of Science in Education

York University, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

1991-1995 Honours Bachelor of Arts (Specialized English)

Related Work Elementary Teacher

Experience: 1998-present Toronto District School Board

Position of Responsibility

2009-present Toronto District School Board